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Dear Shareholders,

2024 ended with a net profit for the period of Euro 8.4 million and the proposal to 
distribute the eighth dividend since the Company was listed.

The year started with a weak first half in terms of revenues (down 15%) due to a slow-
down in production and order fulfilment but with the backlog growing by 11%, while 
the second half of the year was characterised by operations to optimise the delivery 
capacity of production processes, which allowed the Company to recover the gap in 
volumes of fulfilled product orders.

Net revenues grew by +10% to Euro 73.4 million, of which 86% generated on interna-
tional markets. The driver of growth was without doubt the American market, led by 
the US, although excellent results were also achieved in countries in South-East Asia 
and the Far East, in which we have increased investments. Strong performance was 
also recorded in Italy, especially by customers operating in tourist areas. 

The new collections were very well received, while the “timeless” pieces and collec-
tions that have been on the market for several years continue to be very popular, 
confirming the ability to develop and affirm the values ​​of our brand and our exclu-
sive product.

The financial hedging policy on gold requirements, in place for the entire year’s re-
quirements, neutralised the volatility of the precious metal market. 

Notably, EBITDA margin remained steady at 20.2%, despite the increase in costs re-
lated to the extraordinary effort to recover production efficiency and strengthen the 
structure through the acquisition of skilled resources for the production and support 
departments of the subsidiaries.

The net financial position is cash positive and recorded an improvement over 2023, 
despite the investments made and the use of financial resources resulting from the 
physiological increase in working capital due to the growth of the business. 

2025 opened with a significant increase in order volumes and is set to be a year of 
further growth, for which we have laid solid foundations.

We have strengthened our market presence with the incorporation of FOPE Japan 
G.K. for the commercial development of the Japanese market, with the opening of 
the Milan showroom, and with the creation of 30 new Shop–in–Shops (FOPE custom-
ised furniture corners inside retailers’ shops).

We also invested in marketing and communication activities with the aim of enhanc-
ing brand visibility and affirmation, and of supporting the distribution network, plac-
ing a strong focus on digital activities. 

1 	 L E T T ER  TO  S HAREHOLD ERS
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We purchased the warehouse adjacent to the headquarters in order to guarantee the 
availability of new space and allow the expansion of production departments, and 
completed the implementation of the new IT system, the performance of which is al-
ready yielding benefits in terms of the consistency and completeness of the infor-
mation base and ease of access.

The management structure has been strengthened with the appointment of a General 
Manager to oversee the various corporate functions, who will be responsible for sup-
porting the CEO and the Board of Directors in implementing projects aimed at mar-
ket growth and organisational improvement.

Finally, the financial hedging policy on gold requirements, combined with updated 
list prices, is neutralising gold price volatility, thus safeguarding the sales margins 
forecast in the budget and offsetting the higher operating costs faced by the Group.

Ethics and sustainability issues are always a priority and focus for the Group as it 
continues to strive to improve its position, while showing attention for each busi-
ness activity. Based on non-financial disclosure relating to FY2023, Cerved Rating 
Agency confirmed its A rating, demonstrating the consolidation of a path based on 
environmental awareness, human resource management, and the adoption of gov-
ernance best practices. With specific reference to environmental sustainability, we 
confirmed the important objective of obtaining the GHG emissions compensation 
certificate also for 2024.

The important results for the period were achieved thanks to the experience, pas-
sion and commitment of the FOPE team, to whom I wish to express our sincere ap-
preciation for the work done and for sharing our ideals and our development plan, 
which combines the strength of values consolidated over time with a strong innova-
tive drive.

The Financial Statements were audited by the auditing firm BDO Italia S.p.A.

Diego Nardin
FOPE S.p.A. CEO

GROUP PROFILE
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FOPE S.p.A., the Parent Company, and the four subsidiaries operate in the 
jewellery industry as a producer and distributors of high-end jewellery un-
der their own brand names. FOPE is an international brand whose turnover in 
2024 consisted of sales on foreign markets to the extent of 85.79%. In addi-
tion to developing new product “collections”, the Group is historically focused 
also on process innovation, to efficiently combine its goldsmith tradition with 
the best industrial production techniques whereby jewellery featuring ele-
gant and sophisticated designs is made.

The headquarters, offices and workshop of the Parent Company are located 
in Vicenza, in one of Italy’s main goldsmith districts, where the brand was 
created and developed.

FOPE S.p.A. is a certified member of the Responsible Jewellery Council, an 
International non-profit organisation that promotes responsible, ethical, so-
cial and environmental standards and practices in respect of human rights.

2 	 GRO U P  PROF I L E
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CO M PA N Y  H I S TO RY

1929 – Umberto Cazzola opened the first handmade jewellery workshop in the city of 
Vicenza in Contrà Sant’Ambrogio, with the name Fabbrica Italiana Cinturini Metallici 
(FICM), specialising in the production of extendible metal watch straps.

1960 – Odino Cazzola founded the FOPE brand giving the company new momentum 
by focusing efforts on the export of gold cases and bracelets for watches, with his 
customers base including the greatest Swiss Houses of Haute Horlogerie.

1970 – His children, Ines and Umberto, held management positions within the compa-
ny and revitalised development endeavours. Production was renovated, and precious 
jewels started to be created. In those years, the Novecento mesh – still in production 
today – was designed and continued to become a FOPE jewellery classic.

1980 – The product range expanded during those years to meet the needs of an in-
creasingly large and demanding clientele. New productive criteria were introduced 
in order to meet strict quality standards and ensure compliance with product war-
ranty and international certification.

1997 – The company changed into an Italian limited liability company under the name 
of FOPE S.r.l.

2000 – FOPE launched significant advertising campaigns, redefining its commercial 
strategies as it did away with distributors and created a direct relationship with the 
Jewellery market.

2007 – FOPE launched on the market the extendible Flex’it mesh designed by the 
company and covered by an international invention patent, crafted entirely in gold. 
The jewels created with this particular mesh became “extendible” thanks to micro-
scopic gold springs inserted between each element of the mesh.

FOPE pursued its international commitment very strongly during those years, result-
ing in sales volumes of foreign markets exceeding those of the domestic market. The 
current Governance and Organisation structure was established.

2013 – FOPE launched the “A Tale of Beauty” communication project centring on the 
essence of Italian character of the brand, with actress Anna Valle acting as its Brand 
Ambassador.

2014 – The establishment of FOPE Services Dmcc Dubai, a company incorporated un-
der UAE law, enabled the allocation of a FOPE commercial resource dedicated to the 
development and direct support of the areas of greatest interest in the Gulf coun-
tries and South-East Asia.

2015 – Opening, in November, of the Company’s first single-brand FOPE boutique in 
Piazza San Marco in Venice. On December 15th, the Shareholders’ Meeting resolved 
to change FOPE S.r.l. into an Italian law public limited company.

2016 – FOPE S.p.A. listed on the AIM (Alternative Investment Market), currently 
Euronext Growth Milan, of Borsa Italiana (Italian Stock Exchange). November 30th, 
2016 is the first day of trading of the Company’s shares on the stock market.

2017 – Acquisition of a minority share (20%) in Milano 1919 S.r.l., a company owning 
the Antonini jewellery brand. Antonini, a historical and known house of high-quality 
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Italian jewellery – established and still based in Milan –, produces and distributes 
prestigious collections of exquisitely and exclusively designed jewellery.

2018 – FOPE Jewellery Limited was established, a company incorporated under 
English law whose registered office is in Birmingham with a mandate from FOPE 
S.p.A. to sell the brand’s collections and provide operational support to distributors 
for the English-speaking UK and Irish market, i.e. one of the Group’s main markets.

2019 – The new FOPE Boutique in the prestigious Old Bond Street in London opened 
at the end of November. The purpose of the ambitious project was to showcase the 
FOPE brand in a location with international standing, such as London, to gain a strong 
brand awareness effect for the British market and even more for the international 
market. 

2020 – As a result of the lockdown imposed by the health emergency due to COVID-19, 
the Parent Company closed its headquarters from 14 March to 4 May 2020. During 
the lockdown period, production and shipment operations stopped, while adminis-
trative, sales and marketing tasks continued through remote working.

The FOPE boutique in Kuala Lumpur in Malaysia officially opened at the end of 2020. 
The project was carried out in collaboration with our distributor in the city, with whom 
we enjoy a long-standing partnership.

2021 – The FOPE showroom opened in April in an upmarket location in the city of 
Dubai. In July, FOPE extended its design to men’s jewellery and launched a specific 
collection. The collection, featuring Flex’it bracelets and the use of black diamonds, 
is designed for dynamic and confident men who travel, love comfort and conveni-
ence as well as elegance.

2022 – FOPE Deutschland GmbH was established as a wholly-owned subsidiary of 
FOPE S.p.A. The new company and the establishment of the resulting operating struc-
ture made it possible to revise the entire commercial organisation for the German 
market with a view to development.

2023 – The Tokyo Ginza single-brand boutique opened in June and the Kuala Lumpur 
boutique in November. Both boutiques were set up in cooperation with local retailers.

June signed the opening of a new single-brand boutique in Japan, in the most prestig-
ious shopping district of Tokyo, Ginza; confirming the investments in progress, aim-
ing to develop the business in the Japanize market. In November a new boutique was 
opened also in Kuala Lumpur. Its grand opening took place in February 2024, within 
the new upscale department store “Seibu”, located in the Exchange TRX mall of the 
Malaysian capital city. Both boutiques represent the Company’s goal of reinforcing 
and promoting the brand in the international markets even more.

2024 – Incorporated during the year 2023, Fope Japan GK, headquartered in Tokyo 
and regulated by the Japanese law, becomes active with Fope S.p.A. as the 80% share-
holder and SwissPrimeBrand Co. Ltd as the 20% shareholder. SwissPrimeBrand Co. 
Ltd, group partner, handled the initial phases of the product distribution in the 
Japanese market. The new Asian subsidiary marks an important step in Fope’s stra-
tegic presence in the main global markets. 
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B U S I N E S S  M O D E L

The business model is underpinned by the following elements, which make up the 
Group’s strengths:

	• collections of products designed and manufactured in-house, at the he-
adquarters in Vicenza, and exclusively sold under the FOPE brand;

	• distribution handled by multi-brand jewellers (FOPE S.p.A.’s customers) 
with medium-high positioning;

	• direct sale to jewellers (independent or belonging to a group) without in-
termediary agents or external distributors (with the exception of the two 
subsidiaries owned by the Group);

	• strong brand and design characterisation and awareness;
	• presence in international markets;
	• special attention to product and process innovation, relying on patents 

for inventions developed by the Parent Company;
	• direct control across the production chain, from the processing of raw 

material to finishing.

FOPE S.p.A. is responsible for research and technological development, the concept 
and creation of new collections, production, logistics as well as the Group’s com-
mercial and marketing organisation. All company departments, including produc-
tion, are located at the headquarters of FOPE S.p.A., within a building constructed in 
2000 and extended during 2019, combining space rationality and efficiency with a 
modern, highly aesthetic architectural style. The absence of any harmful emissions 
from the production department has enabled the headquarters to remain in the ur-
ban context of the city of Vicenza.

FOPE USA Inc., headquartered in Boca Raton (Miami), is the Parent Company’s dis-
tributor for the US market and agent for the Caribbean and South American markets.

FOPE S.p.A. – DMCC Branch, opened in October 2020 with headquarters in Dubai, is 
responsible for providing Customer Service to the Group’s customers residing in Arab 
markets and in South-East Asia.

FOPE Jewellery Ltd, headquartered in Solihull (UK), in which FOPE S.p.A. holds a ma-
jority stake of 84% while the remaining 16% of its capital is owned by the compa-
ny’s two market development managers, is the Parent Company’s distributor for the 
UK market. 

FOPE Deutschland GmbH, a German company headquartered in Mönchengladbach 
(Germany), is a fully-owned subsidiary of FOPE S.p.A.

FOPE Japan G.K., headquartered in Tokyo, in which FOPE S.p.A. holds a majority stake 
of 80% while the remaining 20% of its capital is owned by SwissPrime Brand, is a dis-
tributor of the Group’s products on the Japanese market; it provides commercial and 
customer care support to local retailers and carries out marketing and communica-
tion activities on the market.



11GROUP  PROF I L E

FOPE S.p.A. holds 20% of the share capital of Milano 1919 S.r.l., the owner of the 
long-established Antonini brand. The latter is a historic and renowned house of 
high-quality Italian jewellery, established and still based in Milan, which produces 
and distributes prestigious collections of exquisitely and exclusively designed jew-
ellery. The Antonini brand is positioned as a niche brand, expressing refined luxury 
through the superior craftsmanship that defines each of its creations.

FOPE S.p.A.’s equity investment in Milano 1919 S.r.l. is not included in the consolida-
tion scope.

M I S S I O N 

Since 1929, the Group has been using cutting-edge technologies and proprietary pat-
ents to transform gold into jewels that go beyond the latest fads. Italian roots have 
always inspired our style, a standard appreciated by those who interpret life with re-
fined, subtle elegance. All Group’s activities comply with strict ethical and sustain-
ability control criteria.

V I S I O N 

The FOPE Group aims to inspire people who want to add a touch of discreet luxury to 
every experience in their lives.

VA LU E S

Vicenza pride

FOPE is an Italian brand. All jewellery is produced in Italy and the Vicenza office is 
the hub of all the Group’s activities. From a creative point of view, the art and craft-
manship typical of the Vicenza area are a constant source of inspiration, which we 
proudly project to the rest of the world.

Family Footprint

FOPE is first and foremost a family business. Umberto Cazzola, the grandfather of 
the current Chair Umberto Cazzola, opened his first goldsmith workshop in 1929 and 
several generations have taken turns over time. The original contribution of each gen-
eration led up to the listing on the Stock Exchange, the natural evolution of a success-
ful journey that lasted almost a century and still continues.

Widespread Innovation

While this concept might appear abstract at first glance, every aspect of FOPE’s busi-
ness is permeated by it, starting from technology, i.e. the cornerstone of all produc-
tion. Our high-quality jewellery often relies on the Flex’it system, a patented inven-
tion of FOPE. The tone of communication has always followed the same direction 
since the beginning.
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Original Design

FOPE jewels are created in Vicenza where creativity and technique blend virtuous-
ly. The iconic Novecento mesh, being our signature line, characterises each collec-
tion through a precise and consistent stylistic identity over time. In addition to brand 
recognition, the design ensures longevity and versatility for every piece of jewellery.

Corporate Responsibility

FOPE’s corporate and product policies are guided by the highest ethical values. The 
concept of corporate responsibility is a core value shared by all generations of the 
family-owned business. Indeed, as FOPE has entered the global luxury arena, it has 
a strong focus on issues such as sustainability, efficiency and respect, carefully con-
sidering the economic, environmental and social impact of each of its activities.

Understated Elegance

The FOPE collections are designed and built for everyday wear. Along with the in-
trinsic beauty of each piece, comfort is a key feature of FOPE jewellery. Through sty-
listic choices and communication, the brand promotes an idea of understated ele-
gance that each individual is encouraged to express through their own uniqueness.

Ethical values

FOPE conducts its business based on standards of ethics, integrity, efficiency and 
respect. It endeavours to encourage all staff and associates to adopt positive behav-
iour, with a view to constantly improving product quality and empowering each per-
son individually and as a team member. 

The Company sees Italian legislation as a fundamental starting point and is commit-
ted to acting in compliance with it and with all the international rules applicable to 
its business. It also ensures that all its actions comply with the Universal Declaration 
of Human Rights.

The activities carried out by FOPE are based on:

	• Respect for employees, associates, customers and suppliers with a view 
to a shared work ethic;

	• The safety of the working environment and the health of those who work 
in it;

	• A sense of social responsibility that is closely related to the role of 
entrepreneur;

	• A commitment to adopt production methods strongly geared towards su-
stainability, consistent with the type of processing required.

FOPE rejects any form of discrimination, child labour and forced labour, and encour-
ages anyone who does business with the Company to adopt the same principles. It 
also encourages its employees and associates to rely on good practices of conduct 
in all its business actions.

In 2020, the Company formally adopted its Code of Ethics, considered a pillar of cru-
cial importance for the development of an increasingly responsible, transparent man-
agement model based on the creation of shared value for all stakeholders. This doc-
ument defines the set of values that the Company owns, shares and promotes, as it 
believes that conduct inspired by the principles of integrity and responsibility is a 
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key driver for the economic and social development of the individual organisations 
and communities in which they operate.

The Code of Ethics is available, including in English, on the corporate websites at 
www.fope.com and www.fopegroup.com. These Web pages also contain the email ad-
dress that any FOPE stakeholder can use to share their suggestions or observations 
with the Company about any conduct that infringes the principles set out in the Code.

The adoption of the Code has been shared with external stakeholders through an of-
ficial email communication sent to all of the Company’s customers and suppliers. In 
turn, these stakeholders have been encouraged to subscribe to the values, principles 
and rules of conduct outlined in the document. 

Lastly, the Company has an elected Ethics Committee responsible for overseeing and 
dealing with any complaints, reports of distress or suggestions by its employees. The 
Committee may be addressed on a named or anonymous basis and may be called 
upon either in its entirety or through the involvement of one member at a time. The 
objective of the Ethics Committee, currently composed of three members, is to en-
sure that workers can count on unbiased listening of their concerns and access the 
tools required to tackle any distress situations they have experienced or perceived.

Since 2013, the Company has been a certified member of the Responsible Jewellery 
Council (RJC), an international non-profit organisation that promotes responsible, 
ethical, social and environmental standards and practices in respect of human rights 
in the entire chain in the diamonds, goldsmithing and platinoids sector, from mining 
to retail trade. Many of FOPE’s main suppliers have in their turn been awarded this 
certification. The RJC certificate remains valid for a period of three years, with an 
audit process being required to renew it.
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R E S P O N S I B L E  A N D  T R A N S PA R E N T  B U S I N E S S  M A N AG E M E N T 

The process of expansion and extension of the business pursued by the Group is 
based on a solid corporate governance model that governs all decision-making pro-
cesses and the measurement of business performance, in full respect of the inter-
ests of stakeholders.

The management model adopted is a traditional one and includes the presence 
of a Board of Directors, with management functions, and a Board of Statutory 
Auditors, with control functions over management. Both bodies are appointed by the 
Shareholders’ Meeting.

The high degree of diversity expressed by the Board of Directors of FOPE in terms of 
gender and skills ensures high levels of effectiveness and efficiency in the Group’s 
management. Company chairmanship lies with the Cazzola family as founder and 
majority shareholder. Of the 5 members of the Board of Directors, 4 hold an exec-
utive office, while 1 is an independent director. The almost equal presence of men 
and women on the Board of Directors fully reflects the recommendations set out in 
the Borsa Italiana Corporate Governance Code, according to which at least one third 
of the Board of Directors should consist of members of the less represented gender. 
Following the adoption of the Organisation, Management and Control Model pursu-
ant to Italian Legislative Decree 231/2001 (231 Model), the Supervisory Board was ap-
pointed and made operational.

Composition of governing bodies 
by gender

2024 2023 2022

W M TOTAL W M TOTAL W M TOTAL

Board of Directors 2 3 5 2 3 5 2 3 5

Board of Statutory Auditors 1 2 3 1 2 3 1 2 3

Supervisory Board 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1

Total 4 5 9 4 5 9 4 5 9

Percentage 4 4 . 4 4 % 5 5 . 5 6% 10 0 . 0 0 % 4 4 . 4 4 % 5 5 . 5 6% 10 0 . 0 0 % 4 4 . 4 4 % 5 5 . 5 6% 10 0 . 0 0 %

DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES
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The keys to success that identify the strategic line pursued by the FOPE Group in re-
cent years, aimed at growing and consolidating its position in the markets, can be 
traced to specific elements:

	• Product
	• Excellent quality, design and innovation of the collections offered;
	• Strong brand awareness – FOPE jewels feature design line enjoying 

high recognition;
	• Made-in-Italy (made-in-FOPE) manufacturing.

	• Service
	• Support to retailers for end customer satisfaction;
	• Order management/commercial policies;
	• Training of sales team at retailers’ site.

	• Partnership with Jewellers
	• Involvement of retailers in marketing initiatives (campaigns designed 

to support stores – special events);
	• Involvement of retailers in events at FOPE’s headquarters to convey 

the Company values.

	• Markets
	• Focusing investment and marketing initiatives on markets where the 

Company’s presence is already significant: America and Europe (in 
particular, Germany and the United Kingdom), South-East Asia and 
the Far East.

Actions on key success levers, which have underpinned growth, are long-term phe-
nomena that have increasingly positive effects on the perception of the brand by the 
market while driving development.

S U S TA I N A B I L I T Y  S T R AT E G I E S

Sustainability, in its broadest sense (i.e. including environmental, social and gov-
ernance aspects), plays a key role in the strategic guidelines implemented by FOPE. 
Following a careful integration of ESG factors in the business model, the Organisation 
is able to develop technological, managerial and operational solutions such as:

	• Maximising efficiency of business processes and activities, with clear 
benefits linked to strengthening its competitiveness in markets; 

	• Actively contributing to the sustainable development of its business 
from an environmental, economic and social perspective.

3 	 D E V E LOPM ENT  S TR AT EG I E S
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In recent years, the objective of transparency with respect to its own operations has 
meant that FOPE is committed to a process of reporting its initiatives linked to so-
cial responsibility. In this connection, since 2017 FOPE’s consolidated financial state-
ments have included a chapter entitled “Sustainability Report”, which is drafted tak-
ing international guidelines into consideration and is updated annually in order to 
demonstrate the projects implemented in the context of corporate social responsi-
bility and the results achieved through these endeavours.

Starting from FY2022, the Sustainability Report has become a stand-alone document 
prepared and published independently of the Financial Statements.

As early as in 2019, this commitment to transparency and the increasing integration 
of environmental, social and governance factors (often referred to as “ESG factors”) 
in business strategies and processes earned the Group the attainment of the AIM 
ESG award by IR TOP Consulting1 and by the Department of International Trade (DIT) 
of the United Kingdom during the AIM Awards ceremony, the award-giving ceremo-
ny for SMEs listed on the AIM segment (now Euronext Growth Milan – EGM) of Borsa 
Italiana (the Italian Stock Exchange). 

In 2023, the company also achieved the ESGe rating of the Cerved Rating Agency with 
an A score (“High ESGe Risk Management Capability”), scoring better than in the pre-
vious year, when it had also achieved a rating of A. The analysis of the sustainability 
disclosure carried out on the data reported for 2023 by the rating agency revealed a 
score above the median for FOPE with reference to the “Accessories” cluster. In par-
ticular, it rewarded the Company’s sustained efforts to reduce its environmental im-
pact and initiatives to mitigate risks related to corporate governance implemented 
over the years. Progress was also reported with respect to inclusion and diversity of 
human resources.

1	 Italy’s leading management consulting firm in the areas of Capital Markets and Investor Relations 
(http://ir top.com/).

highliths 2024
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The following table shows the financial highlights of the Group’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements compared to those of the previous reporting year. Amounts 
are shown in Euro millions.

2024 (DECEMBER 31ST) 2023 (DECEMBER 31ST) 2024 VS 2023

Net Revenue 73.43 100.0% 66.77 100.0% 6.67 9.99%

Operating Costs ( 5 8 . 6 3 ) (4 9. 8 2 ) ( 8 . 81 )

EBITDA 14.81 20.2% 16.95 25.4% 2.15 (12.68)%

Depr. & Amortization ( 2 . 69 ) ( 2 . 2 9 ) ( 0 . 4 0 )

EBIT 12.12 16.5% 14.66 22.0% 2.54 (17.33)%

Financial Incoms / (Costs) ( 0 . 62 ) ( 0 . 8 8 ) ( 0 . 26 )

Earning Before Tax 11.50 15.7% 13.78 20.6% 2.28 (16.55)%

Tax ( 3 .12 ) ( 3 . 71 ) (4 . 5 9 )

Net Income 8.38 11.4% 10.08 15.1% (1.69 ) (16.77)%

Asset 14 . 61 13 .97 0 . 6 4 4 . 5 8 %

Working Capital 3 0 . 3 5 2 8 . 4 3 1 .9 2 6 . 7 5%

Funds (2 . 8 6 ) ( 2 . 32 ) ( 0 . 5 4 ) 2 . 3 3 %

Net Invested Capital 42.10 40.08 2.02 5.04%

Equity 45.36 40.05 5.31 13.26%

Net Debt / (Cash) 3.26 (0.03) 3.29 +109.67%

4 	 H IGHL IGHT S  2023

highliths 2024
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M A I N  I N D I C ATO R  G R A P H S

EB I TDA

EB I T

SALES

EB I TDA  MARGIN

EB I T  MARGIN

NE T  RE VENUE

2024

73.4

66.8

2023

2024 2023

2024 2023

EXTRA EU 56%

ITALY 15%

EUROPE 29%

2024 2023

2024 2023

14.8

17.0

20.1%

25.4%

12.1

14.7

16.5%

22.0%
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The primary structure index (Fixed Assets over Net Worth) expresses a high level of 
capitalization and resources to plan further investment plans.

Similarly, the secondary structure index (Fixed Assets over Net Worth & Medium/
Long Loans) expresses a very broad level of coverage.

2024 2024

EQUITY 
75%

EQUITY
+ LONG TERM DEBT 

76%

FIXED ASSET
25%

FIXED ASSET
24%
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The following table shows the highlights of the five Group Companies; amounts are 
shown in Euro millions.

FOPE
SPA

FOPE
JEWELLERY

FOPE
USA

FOPE 
DEUSCHLAND

FOPE
JAPAN

2024
(DECEMBER 31ST)

2024
(DECEMBER 31ST)

2024
(DECEMBER 31ST)

2024
(DECEMBER 31ST)

2024
(DECEMBER 31ST)

Net Revenue 66.64 8.34 17.29 0.66 1.42

Operating Costs 52 . 6 4 8 . 01 16 . 62 0 . 51 1 . 32

EBITDA 14.00 0.33 0.67 0.15 0.10

Depr. & Amortization 2 . 5 4 0 . 0 9 0 . 0 4 0 . 0 2 0 . 01

EBIT 11.46 0.24 0.63 0.13 0.09

Financial Incoms / (Costs) ( 0 . 3 8 ) - - - ( 0 . 01)

Earning Before Tax 11.08 0.24 0.63 0.13 0.08

Tax 3 . 0 2 0 . 0 8 0 .14 0 . 0 4 0 . 0 3

Net Income 8 . 0 6 0 .16 0 . 4 9 0 . 0 9 0 . 0 5

                                                

Asset 15 . 3 6 0 . 4 6 0 . 4 4 0 .16 0 .16

Working Capital 3 0 . 71 ( 0 . 5 8 ) 0 . 7 5 - ( 0 . 69 )

Funds 2 . 8 6 - - - -

Net Invested Capital 43.22 (0.13) 1.19 0.16 (0.53)

Equity 43.61 1.06 2.12 0.27 0.10

Net Debt / (Cash) (0.39) (1.18) (0.93) (0.11) (0.63)

                                                

Exchange rate           U S D/ E U R G B P/ E U R           Y E N / E U R

To 31/12/2024           1 . 0 4 0 . 8 3           16 3 . 0 6

Average by year           1 . 0 8 0 . 8 5           16 4 . 0 0

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF F.Y. 2023
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I M PAC T  O N  CO N F L I C T  M A N AG E M E N T  I N  U K R A I N E  A N D  I S R A E L  A N D  U . S .  C U S TO M S  D U T I E S

The Group operates by producing and distributing its own jewellery collections to 
shops that sell the FOPE brand, with revenues being generated by products sold dur-
ing the year to the retailer, who in turn sells them to the end customer.

Revenues in 2024 stood at Euro 73.43 million, showing a 9.98% increase in sales vol-
ume compared to the previous year 2023.

On 24 February 2022, the Russia-Ukraine conflict broke out, leading to a series of 
sanctions against Russia. These sanctions will inevitably have effects on the global 
economy. At present, FOPE Group’s business is not affected by the direct effects of 
these sanctions because the Company does not operate in the Russian market, has no 
Russian, Belarusian or Ukrainian customers, nor are there any Russian or Ukrainian 
suppliers in its supply chain. Furthermore, it should be noted that the shareholding 
structure of FOPE S.p.A. does not comprise any direct links with Russian or Ukrainian 
companies.

Similarly, we believe that the conflict in the Israeli-Palestinian area does not adverse-
ly affect the Group’s business and that the higher transport costs generated by the 
changes in shipping routes as a result of the war events do not significantly affect 
the Companies’ overall transport costs.

Since the Group does not operate in the markets where the aforesaid conflicts are 
taking place, estimates for the financial year 2024 do not include sales assump-
tions in these markets. While it is not possible to rule out a potential indirect nega-
tive effect on the business, caused by a general deterioration of the economy in the 
Eurozone due to the escalation and continuation of the aforesaid conflict, no such di-
rect phenomena are identified at present as to hinder a positive development of the 
activities and business for the current year.

The U.S. Administration announced new customs duties will be calculated on goods 
imported from Italy. Such implementation will be applied also on jewelry products, 
which affect our Company as well as our U.S. Subsidiary. The new duties rates and 
conditions are still under verification. In view of such measure and in order to allow 
the proper cost coverage, the sales price list will be adjusted for the U.S. market.

The U.S. market highly values our brand and we boast a solid partnership with our 
distributors; however, currently there is no data to forecast a potential impact to the 
sales volume due to the new customs tariff.

Below is an assessment of the impacts with respect to:

	• Economic and financial situation
	• Development strategies and key markets.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OF F.Y. 2023

5 	 S IGN I F I C ANT  E V ENT S  OF  F.Y.  2 024
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E CO N O M I C  A N D  F I N A N C I A L  I M PAC T

The volume of orders collected in the first few months of 2025 confirms the forecast 
of a positive performance for the year, with adequate profit margins.

Customer receipts during 2024 did not show any critical issues and good turnover ra-
tios were maintained. The net financial position recorded in 2024, standing at Euro 
3.26 million, with net liquid assets totalling Euro 15.15 million, shows the Group’s abil-
ity to generate positive cash flows net of commitments under the investment plan 
carried out and the loan repayment plan. 

D E V E LO P M E N T  S T R AT E G I E S  A N D  K E Y  M A R K E T S

The results for the year, showing an increase in sales volume over the past few years, 
are a valid indicator to give a positive opinion on the Group’s business model and 
strategies pursued to date, respectively described in the following paragraphs of the 
Report on Operations. Actions on key success levers that have underpinned growth 
are long-term phenomena that have increasingly positive effects on the perception 
of the brand by the market, while driving the Group’s development process.

CORPORATE BODIES
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R E V I E W  O F  T H E  M A I N  E CO N O M I C  DATA

Below is the Group’s reclassified Consolidated Income Statement compared with the 
previous year (figures shown in Euro):

INCOME STATEMENT 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 CHANGE

Net Revenues 73,433,504 66,768,113 6,665,391

Other income 8 8 8 , 26 4 870 ,112 18 ,152

External costs 52 , 6 5 8 , 3 41 4 4 ,9 67,118 7, 6 91 , 2 2 3

Added value 21,663,427 22,671,107 (1,007,680)

Labour costs 6 , 8 62 , 7 3 0 5 , 72 0 , 0 9 9 1 ,142 , 6 31

EBITDA 14 , 8 0 0 , 6 97 16 ,9 51 , 0 0 8 ( 2 ,15 0 , 311)

Amortisation/Depreciation 2 , 6 8 6 , 3 9 2 2 , 2 91 , 3 8 0 39 5 , 012

EBIT 12 ,114 , 3 0 5 14 , 6 5 9, 62 8 ( 2 , 5 4 5 , 3 2 3 )

Financial income and charges (613 , 4 4 5 ) ( 87 9, 3 71) 26 5 ,9 26

Pre-tax profit/(loss) 11,500,860 13,780,257 (2,279,397)

Income tax 3 ,117, 0 72 3 , 7 0 5 ,14 0 ( 5 8 8 , 0 6 8 )

Net profit/(loss) 8,383,788 10,075,117 (1,691,329)

S A L E S  R E V E N U E S

Sales performance in 2024 was positive. Net sales revenues amounted to Euro 73.43 
million, an increase of Euro 6.67 million (9.98%) over the previous year. 

The US market and the markets in South-East Asia and the Far East, in which we have 
increased investments, made the greatest contribution to growth. The Italian mar-
ket, which has always been a central focus of attention, performed well, especially 
among customers operating in areas of tourist interest.

Sales refer to the FOPE jewellery collections, which are made, as known, in-house 
exclusively under the FOPE brand and are distributed in multi-brand stores, i.e. to 
customers and retailers of the brand. In addition to this business model, since 2015, 
sales also include those made at the boutique in Venice, which in this case see the 
end consumer himself/herself as a customer, as well as those, again to end consum-
ers, through the Parent Company’s e-commerce website.

The FOPE collections are also showcased in the single-brand boutiques in London, 
Kuala Lumpur and Tokyo. The boutique in Venice is managed directly by the Parent 
Company, while the others are managed in collaboration with local retailers.

The new collections presented in 2024 directly to retailers of the distribution net-
work were very well received, while the “timeless” pieces and collections that have 
been on the market for several years continue to be very popular.

7 	 BOARD  OF  D I R EC TORS  REP ORT

Board of Directors report
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Retailers, mostly consisting of medium/high-level multi-brand stores, are present on 
the market on a global scale, with 85.79% of total turnover in 2024 being generated 
in foreign countries, a percentage in line with the previous year.

O P E R AT I N G  CO S T S

Operating costs (excluding labour costs), which were 17.10% higher than in the previ-
ous year, include variable industrial costs proportional to sales volumes and structur-
al costs, which increased in order to meet rising order volumes and business growth.

No significant costs of an extraordinary nature with respect to current operations 
were recorded during the period.

With a view to consolidating the operational structure, FOPE’s work team also changed 
compared to the previous year; the 19.98% increase in costs was mainly attributable 
to the entry of new qualified resources both to support production and the staff in 
the support functions, in particular those in charge of the subsidiaries.

The initiatives of the marketing and communication plan activated during the year 
were fully expensed in the period, which involved a greater economic commitment 
compared to the previous year. Expenses for marketing initiatives include costs for 
participating in international trade fairs, communication programmes in the press 
and online, and marketing initiatives and events carried out directly in collaboration 
with jewellery retailers.

During 2024, digital communication endeavours continued to be underpinned by so-
cial media channels.

The international trade fairs in which FOPE participates include the two editions 
of Vicenzaoro, which grew in terms of volume of business generated, the Centurion 
event in Arizona and the Las Vegas trade fair. It should be noted that, during trade 
fairs, FOPE meets customer retailers, presents collections, but above all it collects 
sales orders.

The costs for the purchase of raw materials and other consumer goods produced the 
expected margins, in line with forecasts. Gold was purchased with forward hedging 
transactions in order to stabilise the average cost. The costs for managing the sales 
network, agents’ commission and the Group’s commercial companies are proportion-
al to sales volumes.

According to the Group’s operating model, it should be noted that the affiliated dis-
tribution companies, which deal with the marketing of the collections, are respon-
sible for costs of a commercial nature and specific marketing activities, in addition 
to labour costs, while operating costs relating to product manufacturing and distri-
bution cycle, in respect of areas not covered by the subsidiaries and other support 
functions, lie with the Parent Company.
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A M O R T I S AT I O N ,  D E P R E C I AT I O N  A N D  OT H E R  P ROV I S I O N S

The portion of amortisation/depreciation charged to the financial year (17.24% com-
pared to the figure posted in 2023) includes the portions relating to investments 
made in the year and in previous years. 

Allocations to the Provision for Employee Severance Pay, as well as to the Provision 
for Agents’ Termination Indemnity, were calculated in accordance with applicable 
regulations. 

M A RG I N S  A N D  R E S U LT  F O R  T H E  P E R I O D

EBITDA came in at Euro 14.80 million, decreasing by Euro 2.15 million in absolute 
terms compared to the figure posted in 2023. Similarly, EBIT decreased to Euro 12.11 
million.

The decrease in EBITDA, reflected in the Pre-tax profit/(loss), was attributable to 
the higher impact of operating costs, which increased due to the reasons mentioned 
above.

Pre-tax profit/(loss) stood at Euro 11.50 million. The profit for the period, totalling 
Euro 8.38 million, showed a decrease compared to the previous period’s profit (Euro 
10.08 million). 



27B oard  of  D irectors     report

ANA LYS I S  OF  TH E  MA IN  BA L ANCE  S H E E T  AND  F INANC IA L  DATA

M A I N  B A L A N C E  S H E E T  DATA

Below is the Group’s reclassified Balance Sheet, compared to that of the previous 
year (figures shown in Euro):

RECLASSIFIED BALANCE SHEET 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 CHANGE

Net intangible fixed assets 3 , 0 5 4 , 3 4 3 3 , 470 , 78 4 (416 , 4 41)

Net tangible fixed assets 11 , 4 9 9, 7 3 7 10 , 4 0 9, 8 6 5 1 , 0 8 9, 872

Equity investments and other financial fixed assets 813 ,142 8 8 2 , 5 0 2 (6 9, 3 6 0 )

Fixed Assets 15 , 3 67, 2 2 2 14 , 76 3 ,151 6 0 4 , 071

Inventories 15 , 74 6 , 8 87 15 , 718 , 2 27 2 8 , 6 6 0

Trade receivables 17, 2 5 5 , 8 5 3 14 , 3 7 5 , 3 9 9 2 , 8 8 0 , 4 5 4

Other receivables 2 , 8 3 0 , 3 4 6 3 , 3 5 4 , 5 4 0 ( 524 ,194 )

Expected cash flow hedging trans. cr. position 3 ,152 ,13 7 69 5 ,14 8 2 , 4 5 6 ,9 8 9

Current assets 3 8 ,9 8 5 , 2 2 3 3 4 ,14 3 , 314 4 , 8 41 ,9 0 9

Trade payables 5 , 5 6 5 , 6 3 4 4 ,110 , 521 1 , 4 5 5 ,113

Other payables 2 , 769,15 0 2 , 072 , 6 47 696 , 5 0 3

Current liabilities 8 , 3 3 4 , 78 4 6 ,18 3 ,16 8 2 ,151 , 616

Net working capital 3 0 , 6 5 0 , 4 3 9 27,9 6 0 ,14 6 2 , 6 9 0 , 2 9 3

Provision for Employee Severance Pay (1 , 411 , 5 8 9 ) (1 , 2 3 7, 0 74 ) (174 , 515 )

Provision for Agents’ Termination Indemnity and other Provisions ( 2 , 0 4 6 , 781) (1 , 2 5 6 , 3 4 5 ) ( 7 9 0 , 4 3 6 )

Provisions for expected cash flow hedging transactions (4 6 0 , 0 9 5 ) (14 8 , 8 4 5 ) ( 311 , 2 5 0 )

Total Provisions ( 3 ,9 18 , 4 6 5 ) ( 2 , 6 42 , 26 4 ) (1 , 276 , 2 01)

Invested capital 4 2 , 0 9 9,19 6 4 0 , 0 81 , 0 3 3 2 , 018 ,16 3

Share capital and Shareholders’ equity reserve (4 3 , 4 31 ,9 6 4 ) ( 3 9, 6 3 0 , 8 31) ( 3 , 8 01 ,13 3 )

Reserve for expected cash flow hedging transactions (1 ,9 26 ,9 17 ) (4 2 0 , 4 9 9 ) (1 , 5 0 6 , 418 )

Shareholders’ Equity (4 5 , 3 5 8 , 8 81) (4 0 , 0 51 , 3 3 0 ) ( 5 , 3 07, 5 51)

Medium/long-term financial position (4 , 0 0 0 ,9 9 9 ) ( 5 , 3 8 6 , 3 6 5 ) 1 , 3 8 5 , 3 6 6

Short- term financial position 7, 26 0 , 6 8 4 5 , 3 5 6 , 6 62 1 ,9 0 4 , 0 2 2

Net Financial Position 3 , 2 5 9, 6 8 5 ( 2 9, 7 0 3 ) 3 , 2 8 9, 3 8 8

Shareholders’ Equity and Net Financial Position 42 , 0 9 9,19 6 4 0 , 0 81 , 0 3 3 2 , 018 ,16 3

F I X E D  A S S E T S

Investments in tangible and intangible fixed assets made during the period under 
review, totalling Euro 3.38 million, relate to the technological devices and equip-
ment used in the production process, as well as goods supporting the sales activity. 
Commercial investments include the implementation of Shop-in-Shops (FOPE cus-
tomised furniture corners inside retailers’ shops). Fixed assets also include the pur-
chase of the warehouse adjacent to the headquarters, which was completed in 2024 
and guarantees the availability of new space, allowing the expansion of the produc-
tion departments. In 2024, the last ancillary and completion work continued on the 
implementation of the new IT system, the performance of which is already yielding 
benefits to the Company in terms of the consistency and completeness of the infor-
mation base and ease of access. 
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T R A D E  R E C E I VA B L E S  A N D  T R A D E  PAYA B L E S

Amounts due from customers did not change in terms of deferment payment ratios 
compared to 2023. The increase in the balance compared to the previous year is com-
mensurate with and due to the growth in sales volumes.

As to suppliers, payment policies remained unchanged, and the changes in balances 
as at 31 December are due to some payments made as scheduled.

Derivative financial instruments (assets) are reflected in the reclassified statement 
under “Expected cash flow hedging trans. cr. position” while the relevant liabilities 
are held under “Provisions for expected cash flow hedging transactions”.

I N V E N TO R I E S

The value of inventories, totalling Euro 15.75 million is essentially unchanged 
from the previous year. The stock of finished and semi-finished products as at 31 
December was slightly increased to support sales activities and to enable the deliv-
ery of planned orders. It should be noted that production only works based on orders 
and not on stock.

A M O U N T S  OW E D  TO  C R E D I T  I N S T I T U T I O N S  A N D  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

During the year, loans in the amount of Euro 6.00 million were taken out, to replace 
similar positions that had been used up and to streamline treasury and investment 
management costs.

The Net Financial Position, cash positive in the amount of Euro 3.26 million, in-
creased compared to the position as at 31 December 2023, when it amounted to Euro 
0.03 million.

The individual cash flow entries are recorded and commented on in the Statement 
of Cash Flows, on page 24.

S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y  A N D  R E S E RV E S  F O R  H I G H LY  L I K E LY  P L A N N E D  H E D G I N G  T R A N S AC T I O N

During the year, dividends to the extent of Euro 4.59 million were distributed, with 
the remaining profit being allocated to shareholders’ equity reserves.

In accordance with the accounting standard OIC 32 (June 2016), the impacts of cash 
flow hedging transactions recorded as at 31 December 2024 were recognised under 
assets or liabilities. Specifically, they refer exclusively to hedging transactions, car-
ried out by the Parent Company with a view to stabilising the purchase price of gold 
or stabilising currency exchange rates.

The calculated effects of transactions were held under assets if they implied a pos-
itive effect and under liabilities if they implied a negative effect, and were reported 
as a balance in the reserve for “Expected cash flow hedging transactions”.
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As at 31 December 2024, FOPE S.p.A. did not hold and had not disposed of any treas-
ury shares, and therefore no specific Shareholders’ Equity reducing entry was re-
flected under liabilities pursuant to and for the purposes of Article 2357-ter of the 
Italian Civil Code.

C A S H  F LOW S

Summary consolidated cash flow statement as at 31 December 2024 (in Euro):

CASH FLOWS 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 CHANGE

Profit for the period 8 , 3 8 3 , 78 8 10 , 07 5 ,118 (1 , 6 91 , 3 3 0 )

Amortisation/depreciation 2 , 6 8 6 , 3 9 2 2 , 2 91 , 3 8 0 39 5 , 012

Change in Provisions for Employee Severance Pay 
and Agents’ Termination Indemnity

2 32 , 0 7 9 116 , 521 115 , 5 5 8

Gross self- financing 11,302,259 12,483,019 (1,180,760)

Change in trade receivables ( 2 , 6 4 5 , 3 3 9 ) ( 2 , 017, 571) (627, 76 8 )

Change in other short- term receivables 524 ,194 (13 9, 4 61) 6 6 3 , 6 5 5

Change in inventories ( 2 8 , 6 5 9 ) (1 , 7 9 5 , 5 9 0 ) 1 , 76 6 ,9 31

Change in short- term payables 2 , 6 4 9, 3 7 5 ( 2 , 4 9 0 , 247 ) 5 ,13 9, 62 2

Changes in net working capital 499,571 (6,442,869) 6,942,440

Cash flow from operating activities 11,801,830 6,040,150 5,761,680

Change in tangible and intangible fixed assets ( 3 , 3 5 9, 8 2 5 ) ( 3 ,15 6 , 8 0 2 ) ( 2 0 3 , 0 2 3 )

Changes in financial fixed assets 6 9, 3 6 0 13 8 , 219 (6 8 , 8 5 9 )

Repayment of M/L-term loans ( 5 , 3 9 8 , 57 7 ) ( 3 , 718 , 419 ) (1 , 6 8 0 ,15 8 )

Uses (8,689,042) (6,737,002) (1,952,040)

Loans taken out 6 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 6 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0   

Convertible bond issue       

Changes in Shareholders’ equity reserve (4 , 5 8 2 , 6 5 6 ) (4 , 24 9, 6 61) ( 3 32 ,9 9 5 )

Sources 1 , 417, 3 4 4 1 , 7 5 0 , 3 3 9 ( 3 32 ,9 9 5 )

Change in expected cash flow hedging trans. cr. position ( 2 , 4 5 6 ,9 8 9 ) ( 5 6 3 , 0 6 6 ) (1 , 8 9 3 ,9 2 3 )

Changes in provisions for expected cash flow 
hedging transactions

311 , 2 5 0 ( 324 , 8 0 2 ) 6 3 6 , 0 52

Changes in reserves for expected cash flow 
hedging transactions

1 , 5 0 6 , 418 5 8 5 , 26 8 9 21 ,15 0

Changes in expected cash flow hedging transaction 
positions

(6 3 9, 3 21) ( 3 0 2 , 6 0 0 ) ( 3 3 6 , 721)

Net Cash Flow 3,890,811 750,887 3,139,924

Net credit/(debit) banking transactions 31/12/2024 15 ,14 5 , 470   15 ,14 5 , 470

Net credit/(debit) banking transactions 31/12/2023 11 , 2 5 4 , 6 5 8 11 , 2 5 4 , 6 5 8   

Net credit/(debit) banking transactions 31/12/2022   1 0 , 5 0 3 , 7 71 (10 , 5 0 3 , 7 71)

Change in net debit/(credit) position 3,890,812 750,887 3,139,925

Self-financing generated by the result of operations produced a net cash flow total-
ling Euro 3.89 million as at 31 December 2024, with an increased exposure of Euro 
3.14 million compared to 31 December 2023.

Self-financing and the funding resulting from new M/L-term loans made it possible 
to meet the financial commitments required to finance the investment plan, while 
complying with the amortisation schedule for repayment of outstanding loans and 
managing treasury flows without straining liquidity requirements.
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R E V I E W  O F  F I N A N C I A L  P O S I T I O N

The net financial position as at 31 December 2024 and at the end of the previous year 
was as follows (figures shown in Euro):

NET FINANCIAL POSITION 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 CHANGE

Net position for short- term bank transactions and 
cash on hand

15 ,14 5 , 470 11 , 2 5 4 , 6 5 8 3 , 8 9 0 , 812

Short- term portion of loans ( 7, 8 8 4 , 78 6 ) ( 5 , 8 97,9 9 6 ) (1 ,9 8 6 , 7 9 0 )

Net short- term financial position 7, 26 0 , 6 8 4 5 , 3 5 6 , 6 62 1 ,9 0 4 , 0 2 2

Long-term portion of loans (4 , 0 0 0 ,9 9 9 ) ( 5 , 3 8 6 , 3 6 5 ) 1 , 3 8 5 , 3 6 6

Net financial position 3,259,685 (29,703) 3,289,388

During the period, new loans were taken out and outstanding loans were repaid to the 
extent of Euro 6.00 million and Euro 5.40 million, respectively.

The amount of circulating gold required to meet production cycle needs is partly 
provided by credit institutions on the basis of “loan for use” contracts. The overall 
commitment as at 31 December 2024 in respect of the availability of gold owned by 
credit institutions, on the basis of the aforementioned contracts, was equal to Euro 
23.91 million.

I N T E RCO M PA N Y  T R A N S AC T I O N S

During the period under review, the parent company FOPE S.p.A. entered into the fol-
lowing intercompany transactions (figures shown in Euro):

	• FOPE Usa Inc;
	• FOPE Jewellery Ltd.
	• FOPE Deutschland GmbH;
	• FOPE Japan G.K..

Company RECEIVABLES PAYABLES REVENUES COSTS

FOPE Usa Inc 6 , 3 9 3 , 5 8 8 274 ,9 8 8 12 , 6 52 ,9 12 793 , 3 4 6

FOPE Jewellery Ltd 5 , 2 2 9, 5 9 6 13 , 570 5 , 76 4 , 3 4 8 10 5 , 8 2 3

FOPE Deutschland GmbH   8 0 , 0 91   6 57, 7 07

FOPE Japan GK 1 , 8 67,111 ( 2 0 , 0 0 6 ) 974 , 8 52 18 3 , 2 8 3

The above transactions, which do not include any atypical and/or unusual transac-
tions, were governed by the arm’s length principle.

S TA F F

The staff employed in Group companies as at 31 December 2024 totalled 96 people: 
53 women and 43 men.

No significant accidents occurred during the period.
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E N V I RO N M E N T

The Group carries out its business in compliance with the provisions on environmen-
tal protection. During the period, monitoring activities on compliance with gas and liq-
uid emission standards were carried out on a regular basis by the designated contrac-
tors, testing negative at all times. The “Sustainability Report”, which was published in 
September 2024, was prepared at the level of the Parent Company FOPE S.p.A.

R E S E A RC H  A N D  D E V E LO P M E N T

During 2024, the Company continued its research and development activities, gearing 
its efforts towards projects that it considers particularly innovative, as indicated below.

01. Study, design and experimental development of new product lines and types of 
meshes for jewellery, and development of new collections:

	• expansion of Eka collection;
	• expansion of Love Nest collection;
	• expansion of Panorama colleciton.

02. Activities related to the protection and preservation of intellectual property 

The projects were carried out at the Company’s headquarters. For the development 
of the above-mentioned projects, the Company incurred costs to the extent of Euro 
408,828, in respect of which it plans to seek tax relief for research, development, 
technological innovation, design and aesthetic conception activities pursuant to 
Article 1, sections 198-209 of Italian Law No. 160 of 27 December 2019.

Research efforts will continue in 2025.

FOPE S.p.A. did not consider it appropriate to capitalise the costs related to the above 
research and development activities, as they were fully accounted for in the year they 
were incurred.

I N F O R M AT I O N  R E L AT I N G  TO  R I S K S  A N D  U N C E R TA I N T I E S  P U R S UA N T  TO  A R T I C L E  2428 ,  S E C T I O N  2 (6 -

B I S )  O F  T H E  I TA L I A N  C I V I L  CO D E

In accordance with Article 2428, section 2(6-bis) of the Italian Civil Code, information 
is provided below regarding the use of financial instruments, insofar as they are rele-
vant to give a true and fair view of the Company’s financial situation and performance.

More precisely, the objectives of corporate management, policies and criteria used 
to measure, monitor and control the financial risks include:

	• Financial hedges to stabilise the purchase price of raw materials (gold);
	• Financial hedges to stabilise the exchange rate risk in connection 

with countries in the US Dollar, Pound Sterling, Australian Dollar and 
Japanese Yen areas;

	• Financial hedges to prevent the interest rate risk on medium-term loans.
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C R E D I T  R I S K 

The amount of provisions for doubtful receivables affords adequate hedging of cred-
it risk.

L I Q U I D I T Y  R I S K

With regard to liquidity risk, it should be noted that:

	• Group companies do not hold financial assets for which there is a liquid 
market and which can be readily sold to meet cash requirements;

	• Borrowing instruments or other lines of credit are available to meet cash 
needs (e.g. overdraft arrangements and factoring of trade receivables 
with banks);

	• The Parent Company holds financial assets for which there is no liquid 
market, but from which cash flows (principal or interest) are expected to 
be available to meet cash requirements;

	• The Parent Company holds deposits with credit institutions to meet its 
cash requirements;

	• The main sources of financing, excluding short-term bank exposure, are 
M/L-term loans with banks.

P O L I C I E S  R E L AT E D  TO  D I F F E R E N T  H E D G I N G  AC T I V I T I E S

The Group operates in the jewellery industry and a significant risk class applies to 
the volatility of valuations on the international gold market (gold being used as a raw 
material) and to the ensuing purchase price.

In order to stabilise the purchase price, the Parent Company fixes the end price by 
relying on financial hedging transactions. The transactions, which do not have a du-
ration of more than 24 months, are carried out on a rotation basis for a portion of the 
total estimated requirements.
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INFORMATION ON SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

A P P O I N T M E N T  O F  T H E  G E N E R A L  M A N AG E R

In March 2025, Piero Persi was appointed General Manager of the Company.

The business volumes now achieved by the Group and, above all, the growth plans 
developed in light of the strategies that FOPE is pursuing, make the implementation 
of growth projects and the organisation of company processes more complex and 
detailed, requiring us to adapt the organisational structure by appointing a General 
Manager. The new figure, who will oversee the various corporate functions, is re-
sponsible for supporting the CEO and the Board of Directors in implementing pro-
jects aimed at market growth and organisational improvement.

Mr. Piero Persi has impressive professional experience in similar top roles for impor-
tant companies operating in the luxury segment, where he contributed significant-
ly to their growth and success.

B U S I N E S S  O U T LO O K

In light of the positive results recorded in 2024, while not lifting all reservations 
regarding potential critical future developments in the macroeconomic situation, 
particularly with regard to the geopolitical scenario characterised by the conflict 
between Russia and Ukraine and the Israeli-Palestinian conflict, positive business 
development is expected to continue in 2025.

It should be noted that the Group is not active in the markets affected by the afore-
mentioned conflicts and that, although we cannot exclude any indirect negative ef-
fects in the event of a general deterioration of the economy due to the continuation 
of the crises, there are not direct phenomena that could affect the positive develop-
ment of the Group’s business expected for the current year.

The U.S. Administration announced new customs duties will be calculated on goods 
imported from Italy. Such implementation will be applied also on jewelry products, 
which affect our Company as well as our U.S. Subsidiary. The new duties rates and 
conditions are still under verification. In view of such measure and in order to allow 
the proper cost coverage, the sales price list will be adjusted for the U.S. market.

The U.S. market highly values our brand and we boast a solid partnership with our 
distributors; however, currently there is no data to forecast a potential impact to the 
sales volume due to the new customs tariff.

Based on the Company’s forecasts for 2025, sales volume growth and a positive eco-
nomic result are expected. The results recorded in the first months of 2025 bear out 
these forecasts and, consequently, the above-mentioned expectations.

Diego Nardin
FOPE S.p.A. CEO
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Balance Sheet – Assets 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

A) Unpaid share capital     

Called-up share capital     

Share capital to be called up     

Total Unpaid share capital (A)     

B) Fixed assets     

I - Intangible fixed assets     

1) plant and expansion costs     

2) development costs     

3) industrial patent and intellectual property rights 2 , 016 , 7 5 5 2 , 2 0 9, 2 5 8

4) concessions, licenses, trademarks and other similar rights 13 ,9 24 16 , 271

5) goodwill 2 6 9,18 8 421 , 8 2 0

6) assets under construction and payments on account   5 6 , 472

7) others 7 5 4 , 476 76 6 ,9 6 3

Total intangible fixed assets 3 , 0 5 4 , 3 4 3 3 , 470 , 78 4

II - Tangible fixed assets     

1) land and buildings 7,16 3 , 6 8 5 6 , 713 , 74 6

2) plant and machinery 1 ,9 61 , 0 4 3 1 ,9 6 4 , 715

3) industrial and commercial equipment 1 , 4 0 3 , 513 87 5 , 3 87

4) other assets 7 71 , 478 59 0 , 6 97

5) assets under construction and payments on account 2 0 0 , 018 26 5 , 3 21

Total tangible fixed assets 11 , 4 9 9, 7 3 7 10 , 4 0 9, 8 6 6

III - Financial fixed assets     

1) equity investments in     

a) subsidiaries   3 5 , 0 24

b) associated companies     

c) parent companies     

d) companies subject to the control of parent companies     

d-bis) other companies 5 , 715 5 , 3 74

Total equity investments 5 , 715 4 0 , 3 9 8

2) receivables     

a) amounts due from subsidiaries     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due from subsidiaries     

b) amounts due from associated companies     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due from associated companies     

c) amounts due from parent companies     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due from parent companies     

d) amounts due from companies subject to the control of parent companies     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due from companies subject to the control of parent companies     

d-bis) amounts due from others     

within the following year 52 , 4 2 9 49, 6 9 6

after the following year     

Total long-term receivables from others 52 , 4 2 9 49, 6 9 6

Total receivables 52 , 4 2 9 49, 6 9 6

3) other securities 7 5 0 , 0 0 0 7 5 0 , 0 0 0

4) derivative financial instrument (assets) 4 ,9 9 8 42 , 4 07

Total financial fixed assets 813 ,142 8 8 2 , 5 01



38 F O PE  GROUP.  CONSOL IDAT ED  F INAN C IA L  S TAT EMENT  AS  OF  D ECEMBER  3 1 ,  2 0 2 4

Balance Sheet – Assets 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Total fixed assets (B) 15 , 3 67, 2 2 2 14 , 76 3 ,151

C) Current assets     

I - Inventories     

1) raw materials, auxiliary materials and consumables 3 ,9 6 5 , 3 5 0 11 , 7 0 0 , 518

2) unfinished and semi- finished products 4 ,9 6 4 , 616 1 ,141 , 8 67

3) contract work in progress     

4) finished products and goods 6 , 810 ,197 2 , 8 67,9 9 8

5) payments on account 6 , 7 24 7, 8 4 4

Total inventories 15 , 74 6 , 8 87 15 , 718 , 2 27

Tangible fixed assets for sale     

II - Receivables     

1) trade receivables     

within the following year 17, 2 5 5 , 8 5 3 14 , 3 7 5 , 3 9 9

after the following year     

Total trade receivables 17, 2 5 5 , 8 5 3 14 , 3 7 5 , 3 9 9

2) amounts due from subsidiaries     

within the following year   

after the following year     

Total amounts due from subsidiaries   

3) amounts due from associated companies     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due from associated companies     

4) amounts due from parent companies     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due from parent companies     

5) amounts due from companies subject to the control of parent companies     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due from companies subject to the control of parent companies     

5 -bis) amounts due from Inland Revenue     

within the following year 94 0 ,9 7 9 1 , 513 , 8 3 7

after the following year     

Total amounts due from Inland Revenue 94 0 ,9 79 1 , 513 , 8 3 7

5 -ter) deferred tax assets 1 , 0 0 5 , 7 07 762 ,16 5

5 -quater) amounts due from others     

within the following year 516 , 4 01 5 51 ,13 3

after the following year 12 2 13 , 6 9 3

Total amounts due from others 516 , 52 3 5 6 4 , 8 26

Total receivables 19, 719, 0 61 17, 216 , 2 27

III - Current financial assets     

1) equity investments in subsidiaries     

2) equity investments in associated companies     

3) equity investments in parent companies     

3 -bis) equity investments in companies subject to the control of parent companies     

4) other equity investments     

5) derivative financial instrument (assets) 3 ,152 ,13 7 69 5 ,14 8

6) other securities     

Financial assets for cash pooling management     

Total current financial assets 3 ,152 ,13 7 69 5 ,14 8

IV - Cash and cash equivalents     

1) bank and postal deposits 15 ,1 01 , 7 71 11 , 24 6 , 3 0 4

2) cheques 3 3 , 3 9 6 32 9
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Balance Sheet – Assets 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

3) cash and securities on hand 10 , 3 0 3 8 , 5 3 8

Total cash and cash equivalents 15 ,14 5 , 470 11 , 2 5 5 ,171

Total current assets (C) 5 3 , 76 3 , 5 5 5 4 4 , 8 8 4 , 7 7 3

D) Accrued income and prepayments 3 67,13 7 513 , 712

Total assets 69,497,914 60,161,636
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Balance Sheet – Liabilities 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

A) Group Shareholders’ equity     

I - Share capital 5 , 3 9 9, 6 0 8 5 , 3 9 9, 6 0 8

II - Share premium reserve 3 , 4 3 3 , 5 0 5 3 , 4 3 3 , 5 0 5

III - Revaluation reserves 1 , 4 69, 2 9 5 1 , 4 69, 2 9 5

IV - Legal reserve 1 , 2 0 2 , 4 9 9 1 , 2 0 2 , 4 9 9

V - Statutory reserves     

VI - Other reserves, separately stated     

Extraordinary reserve 24 , 4 4 0 , 6 0 6 18 , 8 8 9,18 9

Reserve for derogation under Article 2423 of Italian Civil Code     

Reserve for parent company’s shares     

Investment revaluation reserve     

Payments for capital increase     

Payments for future capital increase     

Capital contribution payments     

Payments to cover losses     

Reserve for reduction of share capital     

Merger surplus reserve     

Reserve for unrealised gains on exchange rates     

Profit adjustment reserve     

Consolidation reserve     

Translation differences reserve 4 8 , 6 69 5 6 ,9 27

Total other sundry reserves (1 , 0 97, 4 3 6 ) (1 , 0 6 3 ,947 )

Total other reserves 2 3 , 3 91 , 8 3 9 17, 8 8 2 ,169

VII - Reserve for expected cash flow hedging transactions 1 ,9 26 ,9 17 42 0 , 4 9 9

VIII - Profit/(loss) carried forward (15 3 )   

IX - Profit/(loss) for the period 8 , 3 4 6 , 74 8 10 , 0 31 , 4 2 2

Loss covered in the period     

X - Negative reserve for treasury shares     

Total shareholders’ equity 4 5 ,170 , 2 5 8 39, 8 3 8 ,9 97

Minority interest in shareholders’ equity     

Minority interest in share capital and reserves 151 , 5 8 3 16 8 , 6 4 0

Profit/(loss) for the period attributable to minority interests 3 7, 0 4 0 4 3 , 6 9 6

Total minority interest in shareholders’ equity 18 8 , 62 3 212 , 3 3 6

Total consolidated shareholders’ equity 4 5 , 3 5 8 , 8 81 4 0 , 0 51 , 3 3 3

B) Provisions for risks and charges     

1) provision for pensions and similar obligations 9 87, 3 6 3 9 2 9, 7 9 8

2) provision for taxes, including deferred tax liabilities 1 , 0 07,9 6 3 3 0 5 , 0 9 2

consolidation provision for future risks and charges     

3) derivative financial instrument (liabilities) 4 6 0 , 0 9 5 14 8 , 8 4 5

4) others 51 , 4 5 5 21 , 4 5 5

Total provisions for risks and charges 2 , 5 0 6 , 876 1 , 4 0 5 ,19 0

C) Employee severance pay 1 , 411 , 5 8 9 1 , 2 3 7, 0 74

D) Payables     

1) bonds     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total bonds     

2) convertible bonds     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total convertible bonds     

3) amounts due to shareholders for loans     

within the following year     

after the following year     
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Balance Sheet – Liabilities 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

Total amounts due to shareholders for loans     

4) amounts due to banks     

within the following year 7, 8 8 4 , 78 6 5 , 8 9 8 , 5 0 9

after the following year 4 , 0 0 0 ,9 9 9 5 , 3 8 6 , 3 6 5

Total amounts due to banks 11 , 8 8 5 , 78 5 11 , 2 8 4 , 874

5) amounts due to other lenders     

within the following year 4 9, 3 5 0 6 0 , 2 3 6

after the following year     

Total amounts due to other lenders 4 9, 3 5 0 6 0 , 2 3 6

6) payments on account     

within the following year 2 57, 6 8 5 2 2 , 570

after the following year     

Total payments on account 2 57, 6 8 5 2 2 , 570

7) trade payables     

within the following year 5 , 5 6 5 , 6 3 4 4 ,110 , 521

after the following year     

Total trade payables 5 , 5 6 5 , 6 3 4 4 ,110 , 521

8) payables in the form of credit instruments     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total payables in the form of credit instruments     

9) amounts due to subsidiaries     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due to subsidiaries     

10) amounts due to associated companies     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due to associated companies     

11) amounts due to parent companies     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due to parent companies     

11-bis) amounts due to companies subject to the control of parent companies     

within the following year     

after the following year     

Total amounts due to companies subject to the control of parent companies     

12) amounts due to Inland Revenue     

within the following year 1 , 0 3 4 , 3 6 4 94 5 , 7 3 7

after the following year     

Total amounts due to Inland Revenue 1 , 0 3 4 , 3 6 4 94 5 , 7 3 7

13) amounts due to social security and welfare institutions     

within the following year 3 8 6 , 721 271 , 76 0

after the following year     

Total amounts due to social security and welfare institutions 3 8 6 , 721 271 , 76 0

14) other payables     

within the following year 8 0 5 , 8 8 6 5 69, 0 2 5

after the following year     

Total other payables 8 0 5 , 8 8 6 5 69, 0 2 5

Total payables 19,9 8 5 , 4 2 5 17, 26 4 , 72 3

E) Accrued expenses and deferred income 23 5 ,14 3 2 0 3 , 316

Total liabilities 69,497,914 60,161,636
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Income statement 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

A) Production Value     

1) revenues from sales and services 7 3 , 4 3 3 , 5 0 4 6 6 , 76 8 ,113

2) changes in inventories of unfinished, semi- finished and finished products 7, 4 21 , 6 9 3 70 6 , 812

3) changes in contract work in progress     

4) increase in fixed assets from in-house production     

5) other income and revenues     

operating grants 4 6 , 813 49, 627

others 8 41 , 4 51 8 2 0 , 4 8 6

Total other income and revenues 8 8 8 , 26 4 870 ,113

Total production value 81 , 74 3 , 4 61 6 8 , 3 4 5 , 0 3 8

B) Costs of production     

6) raw materials, auxiliary materials, consumables and goods 31 , 8 5 4 , 2 9 3 2 8 ,9 7 3 , 62 9

7) services 19, 6 51 , 2 32 16 , 672 , 6 0 5

8) use of third-party assets 813 ,9 24 8 6 6 ,9 70

9) labour costs     

a) salaries and wages 5 ,13 6 ,12 8 4 , 3 2 0 , 6 6 0

b) social security contributions 1 , 3 4 9, 8 8 8 1 , 0 9 9, 6 0 5

c) employee severance pay 2 5 4 ,178 2 2 0 , 4 5 6

d) pensions and similar obligations     

e) other costs 12 2 , 5 3 6 79, 3 78

Total labour costs 6 , 8 62 , 7 3 0 5 , 72 0 , 0 9 9

10) amortisation, depreciation and write -downs     

a) amortisation of intangible fixed assets 1 , 3 3 0 , 3 78 1 ,13 8 , 6 4 0

b) depreciation of tangible fixed assets 1 , 3 5 6 , 014 1 ,152 , 741

c) other write -downs of fixed assets     

d) write -downs of receivables included in current assets and cash and cash equivalents 10 3 , 271 8 9, 2 8 5

Total amortisation, depreciation and write -downs 2 , 78 9, 6 6 3 2 , 3 8 0 , 6 6 6

11) changes in inventories of raw materials, auxiliary materials, consumables and goods 7, 4 0 4 , 0 4 6 -1 , 0 8 4 ,15 9

12) provisions for risks 3 0 , 0 0 0   

13) other provisions     

14) sundry operating charges 2 23 , 26 8 15 5 , 6 0 0

Total production costs 6 9, 62 9,15 6 5 3 , 6 8 5 , 410

Difference between production value and costs (A - B) 12 ,114 , 3 0 5 14 , 6 5 9, 62 8

C) Financial income and charges     

15) income from equity investments     

from subsidiaries   8 4 ,9 57

from associated companies     

from parent companies     

from companies subject to the control of parent companies     

others 4 , 6 0 2   

Total income from equity investments 4 , 6 0 2 8 4 ,9 57

16) other financial income     

a) from receivables recorded under fixed assets     

from subsidiaries     

from associated companies     

from parent companies     

from companies subject to the control of parent companies     

others     

Total financial income from receivables recorded under fixed assets     

b) from securities held under fixed assets as other than equity investments     

c) from securities held under current assets as other than equity investments     

d) income other than the above     

from subsidiaries 1 ,947   

from associated companies     
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Income statement 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

from parent companies     

from companies subject to the control of parent companies     

others 2 5 4 , 3 71 2 59, 4 3 7

Income other than the above 2 5 6 , 318 2 59, 4 3 7

Total other financial income 2 5 6 , 318 2 59, 4 3 7

17) Interest and other financial charges     

due to subsidiaries     

due to associated companies     

due to parent companies     

due to companies subject to the control of parent companies     

others 727, 0 8 5 527, 017

Total interest and other financial charges 727, 0 8 5 527, 017

17-bis) Exchange rate gains/(losses) (147, 2 8 0 ) (6 9 6 , 747 )

Total financial income and charges (15 + 16 - 17 + - 17-bis) (613 , 4 4 5 ) ( 87 9, 3 70 )

D) Value adjustments to financial assets and liabilities     

18) write -ups     

a) of equity investments     

b) of financial fixed assets other than equity investments     

c) of securities held under current assets as other than equity investments     

d) of derivative financial instruments     

of financial assets for cash pooling management     

Total write -ups     

19) write -downs     

a) of equity investments     

b) of financial fixed assets other than equity investments     

c) of securities held under current assets as other than equity investments     

d) of derivative financial instruments     

of financial assets for cash pooling management     

Total write -downs     

Total value adjustments to financial assets and liabilities (18 - 19)     

Pre - tax profit/(loss) (A - B +/- C +/- D) 11 , 5 0 0 , 8 6 0 13 , 78 0 , 2 5 8

20) Current taxes and deferred tax assets and liabilities     

current taxes 3 , 3 7 9, 4 2 9 3 , 74 4 , 4 5 9

taxes pertaining to previous years (114 , 4 6 0 ) ( 74 , 7 97 )

deferred tax assets and liabilities (147, 8 97 ) 3 5 , 478

income (expense) from participation in the tax consolidation/fiscal transparency scheme     

Total current taxes and deferred tax assets and liabilities 3 ,117, 0 72 3 , 7 0 5 ,14 0

21) Net profit/(loss) for the period 8 , 3 8 3 , 78 8 10 , 07 5 ,118

Group profit/(loss) 8 , 3 4 6 , 74 8 10 , 0 31 , 4 2 2

Profit/(loss) for the period attributable to minority interests 3 7, 0 4 0 4 3 , 6 9 6
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Statement of cash flow, indirect method 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

A) Cash flows from operating activities (indirect method)     

Profit/(loss) for the period 8 , 3 8 3 , 78 8 10 , 07 5 ,118

Income taxes 3 ,117, 0 72 3 , 7 0 5 ,14 0

Interest expense/(income) 470 , 76 6 267, 5 8 0

(Dividends)     

Capital (gains)/losses from asset disposal ( 7, 8 9 5 ) ( 3 8 , 3 8 9 )

1) Profit/(loss) for the period before income taxes, interest, dividends, and capital gains/
losses from disposals

11 ,9 6 3 , 7 31 14 , 0 0 9, 4 4 9

Adjustments to non-monetary items not reflected in net working capital     

Allocations to provisions 1 , 6 4 9, 0 4 0 510 , 5 3 6

Depreciation/amortisation of fixed assets 2 , 6 8 6 , 3 9 2 2 , 2 91 , 3 8 0

Write -downs for impairment losses     

Value adjustments to financial assets and liabilities of derivative financial instruments 
that do not involve monetary transactions

    

Other upward/(downward) adjustments to non-monetary items     

Total adjustments to non-monetary items not reflected in net working capital 4 , 3 3 5 , 4 32 2 , 8 01 ,9 16

2) Cash flow before changes in net working capital 16 , 2 9 9,16 3 16 , 811 , 3 6 5

Changes in net working capital     

Decrease/(increase) in inventories ( 2 8 , 6 5 9 ) (1 , 7 9 5 , 5 9 0 )

Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables ( 2 , 6 4 5 , 3 3 9 ) ( 2 , 015 , 3 71)

Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 1 , 52 0 , 3 4 8 (1 , 0 31 , 4 81)

Decrease/(increase) in accrued income and prepayments 14 6 , 57 5 (16 5 , 7 7 5 )

Increase/(decrease) in accrued expenses and deferred income 31 , 8 27 ( 51 , 2 6 6 )

Other decreases/(increases) in net working capital (187,178 ) (1 0 2 ,17 9 )

Total changes in net working capital (1 ,162 , 4 26 ) ( 5 ,161 , 6 62 )

3) Cash flow after changes in net working capital 15 ,13 6 , 7 3 7 11 , 6 4 9, 7 0 3

Other adjustments     

Interest received/(paid) (470 , 76 6 ) ( 2 67, 5 8 0 )

(Income taxes paid) ( 3 ,16 3 , 6 87 ) (4 ,9 78 , 6 4 6 )

Dividends received     

(Use of provisions) ( 3 7 3 , 5 8 6 ) (6 0 4 ,17 5 )

Other receipts/(payments) 7, 8 9 5 3 8 , 3 8 9

Total other adjustments (4 , 0 0 0 ,14 4 ) ( 5 , 812 , 012 )

Cash flow from operating activities (A) 11 ,13 6 , 417 5 , 8 3 7, 6 91

B) Cash flow from investing activities     

Tangible fixed assets     

(Investments) ( 2 , 7 9 6 , 5 3 8 ) (1 , 714 , 6 0 2 )

Disposals 3 5 0 , 6 52 126 ,187

Intangible fixed assets     

(Investments) ( 9 14 ,14 4 ) (1 , 5 6 8 , 3 8 9 )

Disposals   

Financial fixed assets     

(Investments) ( 3 , 0 7 3 ) ( 3 5 , 0 24 )

Disposals 72 , 4 2 3 14 3 ,12 9

Current financial assets     

(Investments)     

Disposals     

(Acquisition of business units net of cash and cash equivalents)     

Disposal of business units net of cash and cash equivalents     

Cash flow from investing activities (B) ( 3 , 2 9 0 , 6 4 0 ) ( 3 , 0 4 8 , 6 9 9 )

C) Cash flows from financing activities     

Third-party funds     

Increase/(decrease) in short- term payables to banks ( 513 ) (1 , 017, 2 5 3 )

New loans 6 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 6 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0



45Consolidated    F inancial     S tatement   for   F . Y.  2 0 2 4

Statement of cash flow, indirect method 31/12/2024 31/12/2023

(Loan repayments) ( 5 , 3 9 8 , 576 ) ( 3 , 718 , 419 )

Shareholders’ equity     

Paid- in share capital increase   ( 24 , 8 8 8 )

(Capital repayments)     

Sale/(purchase) of treasury shares     

(Dividends and interim dividends paid) (4 , 5 5 6 , 5 6 5 ) (4 , 2 94 , 7 9 8 )

Cash flow from financing activities (C) ( 3 ,9 5 5 , 6 5 4 ) ( 3 , 0 5 5 , 3 5 8 )

Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (A ± B ± C) 3 , 8 9 0 , 2 9 9 ( 26 6 , 3 6 6 )

Exchange rate effect on cash and cash equivalents     

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year     

Bank and postal deposits 11 , 24 6 , 3 0 4 11 , 510 , 0 9 3

Cheques 32 9 1 ,9 3 7

Cash and securities on hand 8 , 5 3 8 9, 5 07

Total cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 11 , 2 5 5 ,171 11 , 521 , 5 3 7

Of which not freely usable     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year     

Bank and postal deposits 15 ,1 01 , 7 71 11 , 24 6 , 3 0 4

Cheques 3 3 , 3 9 6 32 9

Cash and securities on hand 10 , 3 0 3 8 , 5 3 8

Total cash and cash equivalents at end of year 15 ,14 5 , 470 11 , 2 5 5 ,171

Statement of cash flow, indirect method     

Of which not freely usable     

Acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries     

Total fees paid or received     

Part of fees consisting of cash and cash equivalents     

Cash and cash equivalents acquired or disposed of through acquisition/disposal of 
subsidiaries

    

Book value of assets/liabilities acquired or disposed of     
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G RO U P  P RO F I L E

FOPE S.p.A., the parent company, and its subsidiaries operate both in Italy and abroad 
in the goldsmith industry with a focus on medium/high-end gold and jewellery-making.

Significant events occurring during the reporting period are extensively described in 
the Consolidated Report on Operations, to which reference should be made.

S T RU C T U R E  A N D  CO N T E N T  O F  T H E  CO N S O L I DAT E D  F I N A N C I A L  S TAT E M E N T S

The Consolidated Financial Statements, consisting of the Balance Sheet, Income 
Statement, Statement of Cash Flows and Notes, were prepared in accordance with 
Article 29 of Italian Legislative Decree 127/91, as indicated in these Notes, which were 
prepared pursuant to Article 38 thereof. 

Moreover, such additional information as deemed necessary to provide more com-
prehensive disclosure of the Group’s financial situation and performance was pre-
pared, with special reference to the Statement of Reconciliation between the 
Parent Company’s Profit and Shareholders’ Equity and the Consolidated Profit and 
Shareholders’ Equity for the reporting period.

B A S I S  O F  P R E PA R AT I O N

These Financial Statements were prepared taking into account the regulatory chang-
es introduced by Italian Legislative Decree 139/2015, applicable as of FY2016, and 
the ensuing update of the accounting standards issued by the Italian Accounting 
Standard Board (OIC).

For each item reflected in the Balance Sheet and the Income Statement, the corre-
sponding figures from the previous year are shown. 

In 2016, the new national accounting standards issued by the OIC became effective 
and were required to be adopted as of 1 January 2016.   

In March 2024, the OIC published some amendments to the national accounting 
standards resulting from requests for clarification received from OIC stakeholders 
in the last year.

The main amendments concerned accounting standards OIC 16 and OIC 31 to intro-
duce specific accounting rules regarding decommissioning and restoration obliga-
tions; OIC 25 to clarify that the provisions deriving from the OECD Pillar II model are 
not relevant for the purposes of deferred taxation; and OIC 12, OIC 15 and OIC 19 to 
clarify that discounts are accounted for as a reduction of revenues while advance 
collections of receivables are accounted for as financial charges.

The amendments made to OIC 25 came into force immediately upon publication in 
March 2024, while the amendments to OIC 12, 15, 16, 19, 20, 21, and 31 apply to finan-
cial statements for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

The effects resulting from the application thereof will be treated as indicated by OIC 
29 in respect of amendments to accounting standards.
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The OIC also published Interpretative Document 11 - “Accounting aspects relating to 
the measurement of securities held as current assets” updated for 2023 financial 
statements. 

On 25 March 2020, the Management Board of the OIC finally approved accounting 
standard OIC 33 “Transition to national accounting standards”. The above standard 
governs the manner in which the first financial statements prepared in accordance 
with the provisions of the Italian Civil Code and National Accounting Standards shall 
be drafted by a company that previously prepared its financial statements in accord-
ance with other standards. 

The following table summarises the status of the National Accounting Standards, in 
view of the recent update:

Document UPDATE NOT UPDATED REPEALED

OIC 2 Assets and financing allocated to a specific transaction   O C TO B E R  2 0 0 5   

OIC 3 Information on financial instruments to be included in the Notes 
to the Financial Statements and Report on Operations

    X

OIC 4 Mergers and demergers   J A N UA RY  2 0 07   

OIC 5 Financial statements for companies undergoing liquidation procedures   J U N E  2 0 0 8   

OIC 6 Debt restructuring and disclosures     X

OIC 7 Green certificates     X

OIC 8 Greenhouse gas emission allowances   F E B R UA RY  2 013   

OIC 9 Write -downs for impairment losses of tangible and intangible 
fixed assets

J A N UA RY  2 0 23     

OIC 10 Statement of cash flows D E C E M B E R  2 016     

OIC 11 Financial statements, objectives and assumptions M A R C H  2 018     

OIC 12 Financial Statement Composition and Layouts J A N UA RY  2 0 24     

OIC 13 Inventories D E C E M B E R  2 017     

OIC 14 Cash and cash equivalents D E C E M B E R  2 016     

OIC 15 Receivables J A N UA RY  2 0 24     

OIC 16 Tangible fixed assets J A N UA RY  2 0 24     

OIC 17 Consolidated financial statements and equity method D E C E M B E R  2 017     

OIC 18 Accruals and deferrals D E C E M B E R  2 016     

OIC 19 Payables J A N UA RY  2 0 24     

OIC 20 Debt securities J A N UA RY  2 0 24     

OIC 21 Equity investments J A N UA RY  2 0 24     

OIC 22 Memorandum accounts     X

OIC 23 Contract work in progress D E C E M B E R  2 016     

OIC 24 Intangible fixed assets D E C E M B E R  2 017     

OIC 25 Income taxes M A R C H  2 0 24     

OIC 26 Transactions, assets and liabilities in foreign currency D E C E M B E R  2 016     

OIC 28 Shareholders’ equity J A N UA RY  2 0 23     

OIC 29 Changes to accounting policies, accounting estimates, errors, 
and events after the reporting period

D E C E M B E R  2 017     

OIC 30 Interim financial statements A P R I L  2 0 0 6     

OIC 31 Provisions for risks and charges and Severance pay J A N UA RY  2 0 24     

OIC 32 Derivative financial instruments J A N UA RY  2 019     

OIC 33 Transition to national accounting standards M A R C H  2 0 2 0     

OIC 34 Revenues A P R I L  2 0 2 3     

OIC 35 Accounting standard on third sector entities (ETS) M A R C H  2 0 23     

The Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2024, of which these Notes 
form an integral part pursuant to Article 2423, section 1 of the Italian Civil Code, reflect 
the accounting records duly kept and were prepared in accordance with Articles 2423 
et seq. thereof. The figures in the financial statements are shown in Euro units, with 
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the relevant amounts being rounded off. Any rounding-off differences were reflected 
in the “Euro rounding-off reserve” under Shareholders’ Equity. Pursuant to Article 2423, 
section 6 of the Italian Civil Code, the Notes were prepared in Euro units.

In accordance with Article 2423-ter, section 5 of the Italian Civil Code, adjustments 
were made to certain items of the previous year in order to make their actual dynam-
ics understandable.

The Notes present the information related to items in the Balance Sheet and in the 
Income Statement according to the order in which items are shown in the respec-
tive layouts.

CO N S O L I DAT I O N  S CO P E  A N D  M E T H O D S

As per the aforesaid regulatory provisions, the consolidation scope includes the fi-
nancial statements for the period of FOPE S.p.A. and of the foreign companies in 
which the Parent Company holds a controlling stake. 

The financial statements of the companies included in the consolidation scope were 
consolidated on a line-by-line basis.

Below is a list of these companies:

Company name HEADQUARTERS % OF OWNERSHIP % OF CONSOLIDATION

FOPE Usa Inc USA - 33431 - Florida, Boca Raton, 2500 North Military Trail, Ste 210 10 0 F U L L

FOPE Jewellery Ltd. UK -  B91 2A A So l ihu l l  2nd F loor,  Radc l i f fe House,  B lenhe im Cour t 8 4 F U L L

FOPE Deutschland Gmbh DE -  41069 Monchengladbach , Am Nordpark ,  1 - 3 10 0 F U L L

FOPE Japan GK JP -  1000005 Tok yo,  Marunouch i  Ch iyoda - Ku,  7F Mei j i se imeikan 2 -1 -1 8 0 F U L L

It should be noted that no company was consolidated using the proportional method.

Milano 1919 S.r.l., a company in which the Parent Company holds a 20% minority 
stake and in respect of which FOPE S.p.A. does not exercise a dominant influence, 
was not included in the scope of consolidation.

R E P O R T I N G  DAT E

For consolidation purposes, the draft financial statements of the individual compa-
nies for the period ended 31 December 2024—reclassified and adjusted to comply 
with the accounting standards and the basis of presentation adopted by the Group—
were used.
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B A S I S  O F  CO N S O L I DAT I O N

The main consolidation principles adopted for preparing the Consolidated Financial 
Statements are as follows:

	• The book value of equity investments in consolidated companies is writ-
ten off against the corresponding portion of Shareholders’ Equity when 
assets and liabilities are accounted for, according to the global line-by-li-
ne method;

	• The differences resulting from the write-off are allocated to the relevant 
balance sheet items, while the remainder:

	• is held under fixed assets as “Consolidation difference”, if positive; and
	• is held under shareholders’ equity as “Consolidation reserve”, if negative;

	• Financial and economic transactions between the companies included 
in the consolidation scope are entirely derecognised;

	• The financial statements of foreign companies are translated into the re-
porting currency (Euro) by applying the spot exchange rate at the end of 
the reporting period to assets and liabilities, while the average exchan-
ge rate for the period is applied to income statement items. The net ef-
fect of the translation of the financial statements of the investee into the 
reporting currency is reflected in the “Translation differences reserve”.

The rates in the table below were applied for the translation of financial statements 
denominated in foreign currencies:

Currency EXCHANGE RATE AS AT 31/12/2024 ANNUAL AVERAGE EXCHANGE RATE

US Dollar 1 . 0 3 8 9 1 . 0 8 24

UAE Dirham 3 . 815 4 3 .9 7 5 0

Pound Sterling 0 . 8 2 9 2 0 . 8 4 6 6

Japanese Yen 16 3 . 0 6 0 0 16 3 . 8 519

B A S I S  O F  M E A S U R E M E N T

A.	 General Standards
Accounting standards and the basis of measurement were applied consistently to all 
consolidated companies. The standards relied upon in the preparation of the consol-
idated financial statements are those used in the financial statements of the parent 
company FOPE S.p.A. and are in compliance with current legal provisions. The stand-
ards relied upon in the financial year just ended are the same as those relied upon for 
processing data relating to the previous year. Financial statement items were meas-
ured in accordance with the general principles of prudence, accrual basis account-
ing, and with a view to going concern assumptions. For accounting purposes, prefer-
ence is given to the economic substance of transactions rather than their legal form.

B.	 Value adjustments and write-backs
The value of tangible and intangible assets, whose useful life is limited over time, is 
adjusted downward through depreciation/amortisation. These assets and other asset 
items are written down whenever an impairment is identified; the original value is 
written back when the grounds for the previous write-down are deemed to no longer 
exist. The analytical depreciation, amortisation and write-down methods adopted are 
described in the following paragraphs of these Notes to the Financial Statements.
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C.	 Write-ups and exceptions
During the period under review, no write-ups and exceptions were made to the ba-
sis of measurement laid down by the legislation on separate and consolidated finan-
cial statements.
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TH E  MOS T  S IGN I F I C ANT  PR INC I P L ES  AND  S TANDARDS  W ERE  A S  F OLLOW S :

F I X E D  A S S E T S

I N TA N G I B L E  F I X E D  A S S E T S

Intangible fixed assets consist of installation and expansion costs, goodwill, rights 
to use intellectual works, trademarks, and other fixed assets represented by soft-
ware and leasehold improvements.

These are (i) recorded at the purchase price, (ii) stated net of amortisation made dur-
ing the financial years, and (iii) reflected directly under the individual items. With re-
gard to the amortisation process, which begins upon the asset being ready for use, 
the straight-line method was used based on the rates that are considered to reflect 
the asset’s estimated useful life.

Installation and expansion costs, and goodwill costs with a useful life of more than 
one year were held as assets with the approval of the Board of Statutory Auditors and 
were amortised within a period not exceeding five years and ten years, respectively.

Industrial patent and intellectual property rights, licences, concessions and trade-
marks are amortised over 5 years.

Leasehold improvements are amortised based on the term of the lease.
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TA N G I B L E  F I X E D  A S S E T S

These are entered at their purchase cost and adjusted by the corresponding depre-
ciation. The book value also reflects ancillary charges. Depreciation, recorded in the 
Income Statement, was calculated on the basis of economic-technical rates deemed 
suitable to distribute the book value of tangible fixed assets during their useful life. 
If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its net book value, then the fixed 
asset is recognised in the Financial Statements at such lower value, holding the dif-
ference under the Income Statement as an impairment loss. If in subsequent years 
the reasons for the write-down no longer apply, the original value, adjusted only for 
depreciation, is restored.

Ordinary maintenance costs are fully charged to the Income Statement. Maintenance 
costs of an incremental nature are allocated to the asset to which they relate and are 
depreciated over the remaining useful life of the asset.

The depreciation rates, unchanged compared to the previous year, used are:

Buildings 3 . 0 0 %

Plant and machinery 12 . 5 0 %

Industrial and commercial equipment 3 5 . 0 0 %

Purification systems 15 . 0 0 %

Office furniture and machinery 12 . 0 0 %

Mobile phones 2 0 . 0 0 %

Assets under Euro 516.46 10 0 . 0 0 %

Vehicles 2 0 . 0 0 %

In the year in which the asset is acquired, depreciation is reduced to approximate-
ly one-half; the use of the reduced rate does not result in any significant deviations 
in value compared to the application of the full rate prorated over the months of 
ownership. 

Fixed assets acquired free of charge are stated at their estimated market value plus 
costs incurred, or to be incurred, to permanently and usefully incorporate the assets 
in the production process.

F I N A N C I A L  F I X E D  A S S E T S

Equity investments not falling within the consolidation scope are recorded at pur-
chase cost and represent a long-term investment by the Parent Company. In the event 
of impairment, the investment is written down and, in the year in which the condi-
tions for the write-down no longer apply, the value prior to the write-down is restored.

It should be noted that, in accordance with section 2 of Italian Legislative Decree 
127/1991, the equity investment held in the associated company was recognised on 
a historical cost basis. Similarly, the other equity investments were recorded at pur-
chase cost adjusted for impairment losses, where applicable. Financial fixed assets 
are not entered at a value higher than their fair value. Receivables recorded under fi-
nancial fixed assets were stated at their estimated realisable value; considering their 
limited impact, the application of the amortised cost method would not produce sig-
nificant differences in the measurement.
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I N V E N TO R I E S

Inventories are measured at the lower of the purchase or manufacture cost and the 
estimated realisable value according to market trends. The cost is determined based 
on the following criteria:

	• Weighted average cost for fine gold inventories; 
	• Average purchase cost, including ancillary charges (shipping costs, cu-

stoms duties and other directly attributable costs) for other raw and an-
cillary materials;

	• Production cost, determined based on the average cost criterion, pertai-
ning to finished and unfinished products.

Production cost includes all direct costs as well as indirect costs for the portion rea-
sonably attributable to the product related to the period of production and up to the 
moment from which the good can be marketed.

For the purposes of determining the estimated realisable value, account is taken, 
where applicable, of the obsolescence rate and stock turnover time-frames.

R E C E I VA B L E S

Receivables are recognised in the Financial Statements at amortised cost, taking ac-
count of the time factor and their estimated realisable value. 

In the initial recognition of receivables at amortised cost, the time factor require-
ment is met by comparing the actual interest rate with market interest rates. If the 
actual interest rate is significantly different from the market interest rate, the latter 
is used for discounting future cash flows arising from receivables in order to deter-
mine their initial book value. 

At year-end, the value of receivables measured at amortised cost is equal to the cur-
rent value of future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate. In the case 
where the contractual rate is a fixed rate, the effective interest rate determined 
on initial recognition is not recalculated. If, on the other hand, the rate is variable 
and linked to market rates, then the future cash flows will be restated periodical-
ly to reflect changes in market interest rates, with the effective interest rate being 
recalculated. 

The amortised cost criterion was not applied, and the discounting of receivables was 
not performed for receivables with a maturity of less than twelve months, as the ef-
fects are irrelevant in order to give a true and fair view. Receivables with a maturi-
ty of less than twelve months, therefore, were recognised at their estimated realis-
able value. 

Receivables are written off from the Financial Statements when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows arising therefrom have been extinguished or when all risks 
relating to receivables being assigned have been transferred.
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ACC RUA L S  A N D  D E F E R R A L S

They are calculated on an accrual basis.

P ROV I S I O N S  F O R  R I S K S  A N D  C H A RG E S

Provisions for risks and charges are intended to cover losses or payables whose ex-
istence is certain or likely, the amount of which and/or date of occurrence cannot 
however be determined at the end of the financial year.

In measuring such provisions, reliance was made on general criteria of prudence 
and accrual, and no provisions for generic risks that lack economic justification was 
made.

Contingent liabilities were recognised in the financial statements and entered in 
provisions insofar as they were deemed likely and the amount of the related charge 
could be reasonably estimated.

P ROV I S I O N S  F O R  E M P LOY E E  S E V E R A N C E  PAY

The Employee Severance Pay covers amounts due—and reserves relating to obliga-
tions accrued at the reporting date—to employees pursuant to laws, labour contracts 
and any company agreements in force.
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PAYA B L E S

These are recognised at amortised cost, taking account of the time factor. In the ini-
tial recognition of payables at amortised cost, the time factor requirement is met by 
comparing the actual interest rate with market interest rates.

At year-end, the value of payables measured at amortised cost is equal to the cur-
rent value of future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate. As provided 
for in Article 12, section 2 of Italian Legislative Decree 139/2015, the amortised cost 
criterion was not applied to payables recognised in the financial statements prior to 
the financial year commencing on 1 January 2016. 

Moreover, the amortised cost criterion was not applied to short-term payables (with 
a maturity of less than twelve months) and to payables with irrelevant transaction 
costs compared to face value, as the effects are insignificant for the purpose of giv-
ing a true and fair view. In these cases, payables are recognised at face value.

The item “Payments on account” includes advance payments received from custom-
ers in respect of goods and services not yet supplied.

“Trade payables”, with a maturity of less than 12 months, are recognised at face value 
net of trade discounts, while cash discounts are recognised at the time of payment.

The face value of these payables was adjusted for returns or allowances (billing ad-
justments) to the extent of the amount agreed upon with the counterparty.

D E R I VAT I V E  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T RU M E N T S

The Parent Company uses derivative financial instruments solely for the purpose of 
managing and hedging its exposure to the risk of fluctuations in the prices of stra-
tegic commodities, interest rates, and exchange rates of currencies other than the 
Euro. Derivative financial instruments, even if embedded in other financial instru-
ments, were initially recognised when the Company acquired the related rights and 
obligations; they were measured at fair value both on initial recognition and at each 
reporting date.

Derivatives are only classified as hedging instruments when, at the start of the 
hedge, there is a close and documented correlation between the characteristics of 
the hedged item and those of the hedging instrument, and the hedging relationship 
is formally documented and the effectiveness of the hedge is high and is regular-
ly checked.

Derivative financial instruments with a positive fair value were held under current 
assets based on their financial derivative nature to hedge a highly likely transaction.

Derivative financial instruments with a negative fair value were held under Provisions 
for risks and charges.

Changes in the fair value of the effective component of cash flow hedging derivative 
financial instruments were reflected in the reserve for expected cash flow hedging 
transactions, net of deferred tax effects.
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CO M M I T M E N T S ,  G UA R A N T E E S ,  A N D  CO N T I N G E N T  L I A B I L I T I E S

Commitments, not resulting from the Balance Sheet, are obligations undertaken by 
the Group in respect of third parties that originate from legal transactions with cer-
tain mandatory effects but not yet carried out by either party. The amount of the com-
mitments is the face value as shown in the relevant documentation.

R E V E N U E S

Revenues from the sales of products are recognised when the risks and benefits 
are transferred, usually occurring at the time of delivery or shipment of the goods. 
Revenues of a financial nature and revenues from the provision of services are rec-
ognised on an accrual basis. Revenues and income, costs and charges related to for-
eign currency transactions are calculated based on the exchange rate prevailing on 
the date on which the transaction took place.

CO S T S

Costs are recognised on an accrual basis. The costs for purchasing goods are rec-
ognised in the Income Statement on an accrual basis when the significant risks and 
benefits related to ownership of the goods are transferred to the buyer. The costs for 
purchasing goods are recorded in the Consolidated Income Statement net of returns, 
rebates, trade discounts, and premiums relating to quantity. Costs for services are 
recognised on an accrual basis when supplied. “Labour costs” include the entire ex-
penditure related to employees, including merit-based pay raises, promotions, cost 
of living increases, cost of holiday not taken, and provisions required by law and un-
der collective labour agreements.

With regard to amortisation/depreciation, it should be noted that it was calculated 
based on the useful life of the asset and its use in the production phase.

The write-downs of receivables included in current assets were calculated based on 
a prudent approach and according to estimates of the recoverability of receivables.

I N CO M E  TA X E S

Taxes are set aside on an accrual basis; they therefore include: 

	• Provisions for taxes paid or to be paid during the year, calculated accor-
ding to current rates and legislation;

	• The amount of deferred tax assets or liabilities calculated based on the 
tax rates in force when the temporary differences are charged back.

Deferred taxes for the period are directly recognised in the Income Statement, with 
the exception of those relating to items directly recognised in Shareholders’ Equity, 
in which case the related deferred taxes are also recorded at the same time, without 
being recognised in the Income Statement.
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F I N A N C E  L E A S E S

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had finance leases in place, which have been rec-
ognised in the financial statements according to the “financial method”. 

E M P LOY M E N T  DATA

The average number of employees of the companies consolidated on a line-by-line 
basis is broken down by category.

Category NUMBER AS AT 31/12/24

Executives 10

Managers 4

White collars 4 5

Blue collars 3 8

Other employees   

Total employees 97
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ANA LYS I S  OF  BA L ANCE  S H E E T  I T EM S

I N TA N G I B L E  F I X E D  A S S E T S

A breakdown of this item is provided in the table below.

 

INSTALLA-
TION AND 

EXPANSION 
COSTS

DEVEL-
OP-MENT 

COSTS

INDUSTRIAL 
PATENT AND 
INTELLECTU-

AL PROPERTY 
RIGHTS

CONCES-
SIONS, 

LICENCES, 
TRADEMARKS 
AND SIMILAR 

RIGHTS

GOODWILL

INTANGIBLE 
FIXED ASSETS 
UNDER CON-

STRUCTION 
AND PAY-

MENTS ON 
ACCOUNT

OTHER 
INTANGIBLE 

FIXED ASSETS

TOTAL INTAN-
GIBLE FIXED 

ASSETS

Opening balance                                 

Cost     3 , 414 , 5 0 5 70 4 , 714 1 , 4 5 0 , 010 5 6 , 472 1 , 6 67, 3 5 0 7, 2 9 3 , 0 51

Write -ups                 

Amortisation 
(Accumulated 
amortisation)

    1 , 2 0 5 , 247 6 8 8 , 4 4 3 1 , 0 2 8 ,19 0   9 0 0 , 3 87 3 , 8 2 2 , 267

Write -downs                 

Book value     2,209,258 16,271 421,820 56,472 766,963 3,470,784

Changes in the period                                 

Increases from 
acquisitions

    6 5 0 , 3 8 4 3 , 4 5 5     2 5 4 , 0 97 9 07,9 3 6

Reclassifications (of 
book value)

    4 0 , 872     ( 5 6 , 472 )  15 , 6 0 0

Decreases for disposals 
and disinvestments (of 
book value)

            

Write -ups in the period                 

Amortisation for the period     8 8 4 , 0 0 9 5 , 8 01 152 , 6 3 3   2 8 8 ,112 1 , 3 3 0 , 5 5 5

Write-downs in the period                 

Other changes     2 5 0 (1 )  1   5 ,9 2 8 6 ,178

Total changes     (19 2 , 5 0 3 ) ( 2 , 3 47 ) (152 , 6 32 ) ( 5 6 , 472 ) (12 , 4 87 ) (416 , 4 41)

Closing balance                                 

Cost     4 , 7 2 3 , 3 6 4 9 0 , 3 0 4 1 , 4 5 0 , 010   1 ,94 8 , 5 5 3 8 , 212 , 2 31

Write -ups                 

Amortisation 
(Accumulated 
amortisation)

    2 , 7 0 6 , 6 0 9 76 , 3 8 0 1 ,18 0 , 8 2 2   1 ,19 3 , 0 7 7 5 ,157, 8 8 8

Write -downs                 

Book value     2,016,755 13,924 269,188   754,476 3,054,343

Industrial patent and intellectual property rights, licences, concessions and trade-
marks are amortised at an annual rate of 20%.

It should be noted that in 2020 the Parent Company exercised the right laid down in 
Article 110 of Italian Law 126/2020 to write up the patent covering the elastic “Flex’it” 
mesh. This item was written up to the extent of Euro 1.49 million. The value was de-
termined by an appraisal prepared by an independent expert and did not exceed the 
maximum amount attributable to the patent. 

The increase in the item “Industrial patent and intellectual property rights” relates 
to costs incurred for the SAP S/4HANA ERP system project.

Goodwill relates to the purchase, by Vesco e Sambo di Anita Vesco e C. S.a.s., of the 
previously leased business unit. Goodwill is amortised within the 10-year limit pro-
vided for in OIC 24 and Article 2426, Section 1(6) of the Italian Civil Code based on 
its estimated useful life.
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The item “Other intangible fixed assets”, totalling Euro 754,476, includes costs in-
curred for leasehold improvements, with special reference to those related to the 
renovation of the single-brand store in Venice and the Milan showroom. These costs 
are amortised based on the term of the lease on the property, such term being at any 
rate shorter than the future lifespan of such costs. 

The costs incurred for the design and furnishing of the single-brand store in London 
at Old Bond Street 1, opened in cooperation with our business partner The Watches 
of Switzerland, the costs incurred for the headquarters in Solihull (UK) and those for 
the store opened in Tokyo in 2022 were also held under the same account.
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TA NG IB L E  F I X ED  A S S E T S

A N A LY S I S  O F  C H A N G E S  I N  TA N G I B L E  F I X E D  A S S E T S

This item is broken down as follows:

 
LAND AND 
BUILDINGS

PLANT AND 
MACHINERY

INDUSTRIAL 
AND COM-

MERCIAL 
EQUIPMENT

OTHER TAN-
GIBLE FIXED 

ASSETS

TANGIBLE 
FIXED ASSETS 
UNDER CON-

STRUCTION 
AND PAY-

MENTS ON 
ACCOUNT

TOTAL TAN-
GIBLE FIXED 

ASSETS

Opening balance                         

Cost 9 , 5 94 , 6 8 2 6 , 2 2 2 , 2 8 6 3 , 8 6 3 , 5 8 9 1 , 7 0 3 , 761 26 5 , 3 21 21 , 6 4 9, 6 3 9

Write -ups             

Depreciation (Accumulated depreciation) 2 , 8 8 0 ,9 3 6 4 , 2 57, 571 2 ,9 8 8 , 2 0 2 1 ,113 , 0 6 4   11 , 2 3 9, 7 7 3

Write -downs             

Book value 6,713,746 1,964,715 875,387 590,697 265,321 10,409,866

Changes in the period                         

Increases from acquisitions 717, 7 0 5 42 8 , 7 5 6 1 , 016 , 6 3 8 312 , 4 4 4 2 0 0 , 018 2 , 67 5 , 5 61

Reclassifications (of book value)     2 9, 6 57 3 6 , 4 0 0 (6 6 , 0 57 )  

Decreases for disposals and disinvestments (of book value)   7 8 , 0 0 0 57,112 16 , 276 19 9, 26 4 3 5 0 , 6 52

Write -ups in the period             

Depreciation for the period 267, 76 6 424 ,9 94 49 0 ,9 6 5 172 ,112   1 , 3 5 5 , 8 3 7

Write -downs in the period             

Other changes   7 0 , 5 6 6 2 9,9 0 8 2 0 . 3 2 5   12 0 , 7 9 9

Total changes 4 49, 762 ( 3 , 672 ) 52 8 ,126 18 0 , 781 (6 5 , 3 0 3 ) 1 , 0 8 9, 871

Closing balance                         

Cost 1 0 , 312 , 3 87 6 , 5 6 8 , 8 8 6 4 , 8 51 , 7 57 2 , 0 4 8 , 7 9 8 2 0 0 , 018 23 ,9 81 , 8 4 6

Write -ups             

Depreciation (Accumulated depreciation) 3 ,14 8 , 7 0 2 4 , 6 07, 8 4 3 3 , 4 4 8 , 24 4 1 , 27 7, 3 2 0   12 , 4 8 2 ,1 0 9

Write -downs             

Book value 7,163,685 1,961,043 1,403,513 771,478 200,018 11,499,737

“Land and buildings” comprise the building where the Parent Company’s headquar-
ters are located. 

The value attributed to the land on which the building stands, i.e. Euro 1,027,985, was 
identified as at 31 December 2005 on the basis of a flat-rate appraisal criterion cor-
responding to 30% of the original cost of the building, net of capitalised incremen-
tal costs and any revaluations applied. 

Consequently, starting from the financial year ended 31 December 2006, deprecia-
tion is no longer allocated to the value of the aforesaid land, as it is considered, based 
on updated company estimates, to be an asset not subject to deterioration and hav-
ing an unlimited useful life. These criteria were applied to determine the value of the 
land also in respect of the portion of the building purchased in 2012.

In 2024, the full exclusive ownership of real estate forming a part of apartment build-
ings, consisting of a warehouse in a basement adjacent to the headquarters, was 
acquired.
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“Other assets”, totalling Euro 771,478, include the following items:

Description 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 CHANGE

Furniture and furnishings 515 , 4 9 2 393 ,13 6 12 2 , 3 5 6

Computer equipment 112 , 411 9 2 ,9 78 19, 4 3 3

Vehicles 13 8 ,19 9 8 8 , 7 7 7 49, 4 2 2

Miscellaneous equipment 1 , 0 5 0 1 , 413 ( 3 6 3 )

Others 4 , 3 26 14 , 3 9 3 (10 , 0 67 )

Total other tangible assets 7 71 , 478 59 0 , 6 97 18 0 , 781

The amount shown under “Tangible fixed assets under construction and payments 
on account”, totalling Euro 200,018, mainly refers to advances paid to machinery and 
commercial equipment manufacturers that will be capitalised in 2025.
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IMMOB I L I Z Z A Z ION I  F INANZ IAR I E

PA R T E C I PA Z I O N I 

Name

CITY, 
IF IN 

ITALY, OR 
FOREIGN 
COUNTRY

TAX IDEN-
TIFICATION 

NUMBER (FOR 
ITALIAN COM-

PANIES)

SHARE 
CAPITAL (IN 

EURO)

PROFIT/
(LOSS) IN 
PREVIOUS 
YEAR (IN 

EURO)

SHAREHOL-
DERS’ EQUITY 

(IN EURO)

STAKE HELD 
(IN EURO)

STAKE HELD 
(IN %)

BOOK VALUE 
OR CORRE-
SPONDING 

CREDIT

PRODUCTION 
VALUE

Milano 1919 s.r.l. M I L A N 0 6 41216 0 969 137, 5 0 0     27, 5 0 0 2 0 2 5 0 , 0 0 0   

Provision for 
write -down 
of equity 
investment

            ( 2 5 0 , 0 0 0 )   

The item “Equity investments in associated companies” refers to the equity invest-
ment held in Milano 1919 S.r.l., in which FOPE S.p.A. holds 20% of the Share Capital.

Milano 1919 S.r.l.’s financial statements for 2023 showed a production value of Euro 
742,345, a shareholders’ equity of Euro 78,195, and a loss of Euro 549,051. The equi-
ty investment was fully written down in 2019.

“Other equity investments held under financial fixed assets” relate to the small 
stakes that Group companies hold in national trade fairs and associations.

LO N G - T E R M  R E C E I VA B L E S

Description BOOK VALUE

Lloyds credit cards guarantee deposit 2 8 ,94 4

Various security deposits 16 , 4 51

Lease advance payment 7, 0 3 4

Total 52 , 4 2 9

As at 31 December 2024, there were no receivables related to repurchase agreements.

OT H E R  S E C U R I T I E S

This item includes bonds purchased in 2022 from Cornèr Bank Ltd. totalling Euro 
750,000 and maturing on 19 August 2025.

D E R I VAT I V E  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T RU M E N T  (A S S E T S )

The Group recognised derivative financial instruments (assets) in the amount of Euro 
4,998 under financial fixed assets, since pertaining to the hedging of cash flows and 
the fair value of liabilities classified beyond the following financial year.

For more information on the financial instruments issued by the Group, as required 
by Article 2427, section 1(19) of the Italian Civil Code, please refer to the specific par-
agraph in these Notes.
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CU RRENT  A S S E T S

I N V E N TO R I E S

A breakdown of inventories is provided in the table below:

  OPENING BALANCE CHANGE IN THE PERIOD CLOSING BALANCE

Raw materials, auxiliary materials and 
consumables

11 , 7 0 0 , 518 ( 7, 7 3 5 ,16 8 ) 3 ,9 6 5 , 3 5 0

Unfinished and semi- finished products 1 ,141 , 8 67 3 , 8 2 2 , 74 9 4 ,9 6 4 , 616

Finished products and goods 2 , 8 67,9 9 8 3 ,942 ,19 9 6 , 810 ,197

Payments on account for goods 7, 8 4 4 (1 ,12 0 ) 6 , 724

Total inventories 15,718,227 28,660 15,746,887

Inventories are measured at the lower of the purchase or manufacture cost and the 
estimated realisable value according to market trends. The cost is determined based 
on the following criteria:

	• Weighted average cost for fine gold inventories; 
	• Average purchase cost, including ancillary charges (shipping costs, cu-

stoms duties and other directly attributable costs) for other raw and an-
cillary materials; 

	• Production cost, determined based on the average cost criterion, pertai-
ning to finished and unfinished products. 

The measurement of finished and unfinished product inventories includes the cost of 
production and external processing; starting from this year, the portion of the value 
of gold, diamond, and stone raw materials was reclassified from the item “raw mate-
rials” and recognised separately under the items “finished products” and “unfinished 
products”. This resulted in a decrease of Euro 7.4 million in the value of “raw materi-
als” compared to the end of the previous year.

Production cost includes all direct costs as well as indirect costs for the portion rea-
sonably attributable to the product related to the period of production and up to the 
moment from which the good can be marketed.

For the purposes of fair representation, the value of inventories of stones and pearls 
is reduced by the provision for inventory obsolescence, amounting to Euro 121,474. 

The value of the loan for use as at 31 December 2024 stood at Euro 23,912,043.

The customisations and implementations made to the SAP ERP allow for warehouse 
management in line with FOPE’s production and distribution profile, with a more 
precise definition and measurement of the level of processing achieved in semi-fin-
ished products.
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R E C E I VA B L E S

The balances of consolidated receivables, after derecognition of intercompany val-
ues, are broken down as follows based on maturities:

 
OPENING 
BALANCE

CHANGE IN 
THE PERIOD

CLOSING 
BALANCE

PORTION DUE 
WITHIN THE 

PERIOD

PORTION DUE 
AFTER THE 

PERIOD

Receivable recognised under current assets           

Trade receivables 14 , 3 7 5 , 3 9 9 2 , 8 8 0 , 4 5 4 17, 2 5 5 , 8 5 3 17, 2 5 5 , 8 5 3   

Amounts due from subsidiaries     

Amounts due from associated companies           

Amounts due from parent companies           

Amounts due from companies subject to the control of parent 
companies

          

Amounts due from Inland Revenue 1 , 513 , 8 3 7 ( 572 , 8 5 8 ) 94 0 ,9 7 9 94 0 ,9 7 9   

Deferred tax assets 762 ,16 5 24 3 , 5 42 1 , 0 0 5 , 7 07     

Amounts due from others 5 6 4 , 8 26 (4 8 , 3 0 4 ) 516 , 52 2 516 , 4 0 0 12 2

Total receivables recognised under current assets 17,216,227 2,502,834 19,719,061 18,713,232 122

Receivables recorded under current assets were recognised in the financial state-
ments at amortised cost, as defined in Article 2426, paragraph 2 of the Italian Civil 
Code, taking into account the time factor and the estimated realisable value. The 
adjustment to the estimated realisable value was made by allocating a provision for 
doubtful receivables.

Regarding receivables for which the application of the amortised cost method and/
or discounting was determined to be irrelevant for the purpose of giving a true and 
fair view of the Company’s financial situation and performance, recognition at esti-
mated realisable value was maintained. 

Receivables are written off from the financial statements when the contractual rights 
to the cash flows arising therefrom have been extinguished or when all risks relating 
to receivables being assigned are transferred.

“Trade receivables recorded under current assets” were shown net of the related pro-
visions for doubtful receivables. 

“Amounts due from Inland Revenue”, totalling Euro 940,979, mainly includes the 
tax credit accrued by the Parent Company pursuant to Article 48-bis of Italian Law 
Decree 34/2020 (Euro 535,793). This item also includes amounts due from the Italian 
tax authorities for R&D activities and capital expenditure, as well as payments on ac-
count made by the US subsidiary.

Deferred tax assets stood at Euro 1,005,707. Deferred tax assets were recognised 
only insofar as there is a reasonable certainty of taxable income in future years that 
would allow them to be unwound.

“Amounts due from others” refers mainly to advance payments made to suppliers.

It should be noted that there were no receivables with a maturity of more than five 
years, nor were there any receivables relating to repurchase agreements.
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The percentage breakdown of receivables by geographical area is shown below:

Trade receivables   

Customers in Italy 10 .11%

EU customers 14 . 3 7 %

Non-EU customers 7 5 . 52 %

The table below shows changes in provisions for doubtful receivables during the year:

Description

PROVISIONS 
FOR DOUBTFUL 

RECEIVABLES 
PURSUANT TO 

ARTICLE 2426 OF 
THE ITALIAN CIVIL 

CODE

PROVISIONS FOR 
DOUBTFUL RECEIV-

ABLES PURSUANT 
TO ARTICLE 106 OF 

ITALIAN PRESI -
DENTIAL DECREE 

917/1986

TOTAL

Balance as at 31/12/2023 3 6 6 , 8 9 6 8 2 ,14 4 4 49, 0 4 0

Use in the period       

Allocation in the period 10 3 , 271   1 0 3 , 271

Balance as at 31/12/2024 470,167 82,144 552,311

Changes in “Deferred tax assets” are described in the table below:

  
AMOUNT AS AT 

31/12/2023
ALLOCATION IN 

THE PERIOD
USE IN

THE PERIOD
AMOUNT AS AT 

31/12/2024

Deferred tax assets 2 9 5 ,9 12 51 , 3 24 72 , 815 274 , 4 21

Tax effect of hedging derivatives 3 5 , 8 81 110 , 4 2 3 3 5 , 8 8 2 110 , 4 2 2

FOPE Usa Inc. deferred tax assets       

Deferred tax (assets) liabilities from consolidated adjustments 4 3 0 , 3 71 19 0 , 4 9 2   62 0 , 8 6 3

Rounding 1     1

Total deferred tax assets 762,165 352,239 108,697 1,005,707

The table below shows the breakdown of deferred tax assets as at 31 December 2024.

Description 31/12/2024
PREPAID IRES (COR-

PORATE INCOME 
TAX) 24%

PREPAID IRAP (RE-
GIONAL INCOME 

TAX) 3.9%

TOTAL PREPAID 
TAXES

Allocation to provision for agents’ termination indemnity 4 5 , 619 10 ,94 9 1 , 7 7 9 12 , 72 8

Allocation to product warranty provision 21 , 4 5 5 5 ,14 9 8 37 5 ,9 8 6

Write -down of receivables 8 2 ,14 4 19, 715   19, 715

Write -down of raw material inventory 121 , 474 2 9,15 4 4 , 7 3 7 3 3 , 8 91

Write -down of goodwill 1 0 0 , 0 0 0 24 , 0 0 0 3 ,9 0 0 27,9 0 0

Unpaid directors’ fees 9 5 , 262 2 2 , 8 6 3   2 2 , 8 6 3

Estimated exchange rate loss 3 0 , 0 0 0 7, 2 0 0 1 ,170 8 , 3 70

Amortisation of goodwill 510 , 0 8 5 12 2 , 4 2 0 19, 8 9 3 142 , 313

Derivatives (assets) - commodities         

Derivative (assets) - interest rate/currencies 4 6 0 , 0 9 5 110 , 4 2 3   110 , 4 2 3

Consolidation entries - write -off of profit in stock 2 , 2 2 5 , 316 5 3 4 , 076 8 6 , 787 62 0 , 8 6 3

Rounding/change %       6 5 5

Total 3,691,450 885,949 119,103 1,005,707

C U R R E N T  F I N A N C I A L  A S S E T S

The Group recognised derivative financial instrument (assets) in the amount of Euro 
3,152,137 under current financial assets, since pertaining to the hedging of cash flows 
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and fair value of assets held under current assets.

For more information, as required by Article 2427, section 1(19) of the Italian Civil 
Code, please refer to the specific section of these Notes.

C A S H  A N D  C A S H  E Q U I VA L E N T S

“Bank and postal deposits” primarily include active bank accounts that the compa-
nies hold with national and foreign credit institutions. 

The criteria adopted in measuring and translating figures denominated in foreign 
currencies are set out in the first part of these Notes to the Financial Statements.

 
OPENING
BALANCE

CHANGE IN THE 
PERIOD

CLOSING
BALANCE

Bank and postal deposits 11 , 24 6 , 3 0 4 3 , 8 5 5 , 4 67 15 ,1 01 , 7 71

Cheques 32 9 3 3 , 0 67 3 3 , 3 9 6

Cash and other securities on hand 8 , 5 3 8 1 , 76 5 10 , 3 0 3

Total cash and cash equivalents 11,255,171 3,890,299 15,145,470

The year-end figure reflects the Group’s operational requirements, as it needs to hold 
adequate balances in bank accounts to meet payments due at the beginning of the 
following year. 

ACC RU E D  I N CO M E  A N D  P R E PAY M E N T S

 
OPENING
BALANCE

CHANGE IN THE 
PERIOD

CLOSING
BALANCE

Accrued income       

Prepayments 513 , 712 (14 6 , 57 5 ) 3 67,13 7

Total accrued income and prepayments 513,712 (146,575) 367,137

They measure income and charges that are accounted for earlier or later than the ac-
tual date of payment and/or documentary evidence; they are reflected irrespective-
ly of the date of receipt or payment of the relevant income and charges, common to 
two or more years and prorated over the applicable timeframe.
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Below is a breakdown of this item.

Description AMOUNT

Participation in trade fairs   

Directors’ fees   

Theft insurance 159, 6 9 6

Sundry insurance policies 21 , 47 7

User licences, technical and software support 2 8 ,16 8

Services related to the listing on the Euronext Growth Milan market 5 0 , 417

Advertising pages 31 ,9 91

Lease fees 2 0 , 78 5

Ritz Hotel shop window rental 7,9 14

DPO assignment 9,1 0 0

Car leases 3 , 817

Rental and surveillance 1 ,18 5

Other minor costs 3 , 316

Total 367,137

No accrued income and prepayments having a maturity in excess of five years were 
recognised.

S H A R E H O L D E R S ’  E Q U I T Y

The following table provides an overview of the differences between the Parent 
Company’s financial statements and the consolidated financial statements with re-
spect to items that have an impact on the profit/(loss) for the period and on share-
holders’ equity:

  

SHAREHOLDERS’ 
EQUITY (EXCLUD-
ING PROFIT/LOSS 
FOR THE PERIOD)

PROFIT/(LOSS) 
FOR THE PERIOD

Shareholders’ equity and profit/(loss) for the period as shown in the Parent Company’s financial statements 3 5 , 5 51 , 0 0 5 8 , 0 5 9, 8 42

Adjustments made in accordance with accounting standards     

Write -off of book value of consolidated investees:     

a) difference between book value and pro -rata value of shareholders’ equity 2 , 4 0 6 , 8 0 6   

b) pro -rata profit/(loss) of investees   7 57,15 0

c) gains/losses recognised at the date of acquisition of the investees     

d) consolidation difference     

Other consolidation entries (1 ,114 , 8 3 0 ) (4 8 9, 715 )

Write -off of the effects of transactions between Subsidiaries (19, 471) 19, 471

Shareholders’ equity and profit/(loss) for the period attributable to the Group 3 6 , 8 2 3 , 510 8 , 3 4 6 , 74 8

Shareholders’ equity and profit/(loss) for the period attributable to minority interests 151 , 5 8 3 37, 0 4 0

Consolidated Shareholders’ Equity and net profit/(loss) 3 6 ,9 7 5 , 0 9 3 8 , 3 8 3 , 78 8
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Statement of changes in the Group’s consolidated Shareholders’ Equity:

  
ALLOCATION OF PROFIT

FROM THE PREVIOUS YEAR
OTHER

CHANGES
    

 
OPENING 
BALANCE

ALLOCATION 
OF DIVIDENDS

OTHER
ALLOCATIONS

INCREASES DECREASES
RECLASSIFI-

CATIONS

PROFIT/(LOSS) 
FOR THE 
PERIOD

CLOSING
BALANCE

Share Capital 5 , 3 9 9, 6 0 8             5 , 3 9 9, 6 0 8

Share premium reserve 3 , 4 3 3 , 5 0 5             3 , 4 3 3 , 5 0 5

Revaluation reserves 1 , 4 69, 2 9 5             1 , 4 69, 2 9 5

Legal reserve 1 , 2 0 2 , 4 9 9             1 , 2 0 2 , 4 9 9

Statutory reserves                 

Other reserves                 

Extraordinary reserve 18 , 8 8 9,18 9   5 , 4 41 , 7 5 5 10 9, 6 62       24 , 4 4 0 , 6 0 6

Reserve for unrealised 
gains on exchange rates

                

Consolidation reserve                 

Other sundry reserves (1 , 0 6 3 ,947 )       3 3 , 4 8 9     (1 , 0 9 6 , 4 6 3 )

Other sundry reserves – 
Translation differences 
reserve

5 6 ,9 27       8 , 2 5 8     4 8 , 6 69

Total other reserves 17, 8 8 2 ,169   5 , 4 41 , 7 5 5 10 9, 6 62 41 , 747     2 3 , 3 91 , 8 3 9

Reserve for expected 
cash flow hedging 
transactions

42 0 , 4 9 9     1 ,9 26 ,9 17 42 0 , 4 9 9     1 ,9 26 ,9 17

Profit/(loss) carried 
forward

        15 3     (15 3 )

Profit/(loss) for the 
period

10 , 0 31 , 4 2 2 (4 , 5 8 9, 6 67 ) ( 5 , 4 41 , 7 5 5 )       8 , 3 4 6 , 74 8 8 , 3 4 6 , 74 8

Loss covered in the 
period

                

Negative reserve for 
treasury shares

                

Share capital and 
reserves of minority 
interests

16 8 , 6 4 0   4 3 , 6 9 6   6 0 , 7 5 3     151 , 5 8 3

Profit/(loss) of minority 
interests

4 3 , 6 9 6   (4 3 , 6 9 6 )       3 7, 0 4 0 37, 0 4 0

Total consolidated 
shareholders’ equity

40,051,333 (4,589,667)   2,036,579 523,152   8,383,788 45,358,881

C H A N G E S  I N  R E S E RV E  F O R  E X P E C T E D  C A S H  F LOW H E D G I N G  T R A N S AC T I O N S

This reserve changed to account for future cash flows from derivative instruments 
that are designated as “cash flow hedging instruments” and is shown net of the tax 
effect.
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P ROV I S I O N S  F O R  R I S K S  A N D  C H A RG E S

Below is a breakdown of this item.

 

PROVISION 
FOR PENSIONS 

AND SIMILAR 
OBLIGATIONS

PROVISION FOR 
TAXES, INCLUDING 

DEFERRED TAX 
LIABILITIES

DERIVATIVE 
FINANCIAL 

INSTRUMENT 
(LIABILITIES)

OTHER
PROVISIONS

TOTAL PROVISIONS 
FOR RISKS AND 

CHARGES

Opening balance 9 2 9, 7 9 8 3 0 5 , 0 9 2 14 8 , 8 4 5 21 , 4 5 5 1 , 4 0 5 ,19 0

Changes in the period           

Allocation in the period 57, 5 6 5 9 27, 612 4 6 0 , 0 9 5 3 0 , 0 0 0 1 , 47 5 , 272

Use in the period   2 24 , 741 14 8 , 8 4 5   3 7 3 , 5 8 6

Other changes           

Total changes 57, 5 6 5 70 2 , 871 311 , 2 5 0 3 0 , 0 0 0 1 ,1 01 , 6 8 6

Closing balance 987,363 1,007,963 460,095 51,455 2,506,876

The provision for pensions refers to the provision for agents’ termination indemnity 
established by the Parent Company. 

With reference to Italian agents, provisions for the period were determined in ac-
cordance with the economic agreements for the industry sector (Accordi Economici 
Collettivi – A.E.C.) and were commensurate with the services actually provided by the 
agent. It should be noted that, compared to the previous year, the amount of the pro-
vision was adequately increased to take account of the merit-based allowance that, 
effective 1 April 2017, must also be recognised in agency contracts executed before 1 
January 2004 (Article 11 of the A.E.C.). With regard to foreign agents, considering the 
different reference legislation, the amount of the provision was estimated taking ac-
count of the estimated liability that the Group might incur should it decide to termi-
nate the business relationship.

Derivative instrument (liabilities) relate to the mark-to-market valuation notified by 
the reference banks in respect of hedging derivative contracts on exchange rates and 
commodities opened at the end of the period.

“Other provisions“, amounting to Euro 51,455, relate to the product warranty provi-
sion for Euro 21,455 and, for the remaining amount, to the provision set aside on the 
basis of the principle of prudence in the face of ongoing legal disputes.

The provision for taxes relates to deferred taxes accrued on temporary differences 
between statutory and fiscal values.

The table below shows changes in the provision for deferred taxes:

  31/12/2023
ALLOCATION IN 

THE PERIOD
USE IN

THE PERIOD
31/12/2024

Provisions for deferred taxes 6 ,9 5 8   6 ,9 5 8   

Effect of hedging derivative 2 0 4 , 0 9 3 8 8 0 , 5 4 6 2 0 4 , 0 94 8 8 0 , 5 4 5

Deferred tax liabilities from leases 3 52   3 62 (10 )

FOPE Jewellery Ltd. deferred tax liabilities 5 9, 6 8 3 4 3 , 2 5 6   1 0 2 ,9 3 9

FOPE Usa Inc. deferred tax liabilities  3 4 , 4 5 8   13 , 3 2 8 21 ,13 0

Exchange rate translation differences (4 5 4 ) 3 , 810   3 , 3 5 6

Rounding 2     2

Total provision for deferred taxes 305,092 927,612 224,742 1,007,962
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E M P LOY E E  S E V E R A N C E  PAY

The following table shows the changes in the period.

  EMPLOYEE SEVERANCE PAY

Opening balance 1 , 2 3 7, 0 74

Changes in the period     

Allocation in the period 17 3 , 76 8

Use in the period 1 , 0 41

Other changes 1 , 78 8

Total changes 174 , 515

Closing balance 1,411,589

This item refers to an amount due to employees of the Parent Company and reflects 
the actual amount due to employees pursuant to law and current labour agreements 
in Italy, taking into account any type of remuneration paid on a continuous basis. 

This provision reflects the total amount of the individual entitlements accrued by 
employees at the reporting date, net of payments on account made, and corresponds 
to the amount that would be due to employees should their employment relationship 
cease on such date.
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PAYA B L E S

Below is a breakdown of amounts due based on maturity:

 
OPENING
BALANCE

CHANGE IN
THE PERIOD

CLOSING
BALANCE

PORTION DUE
WITHIN THE PERIOD

PORTION DUE
AFTER THE PERIOD

Bonds           

Convertible bonds           

Shareholders’ loans           

Amounts due to banks 11 , 2 8 4 , 874 6 0 0 ,9 11 11 , 8 8 5 , 78 5 7, 8 8 4 , 78 6 4 , 0 0 0 ,9 9 9

Amounts due to other lenders 6 0 , 2 3 6 (10 , 8 8 6 ) 4 9, 3 5 0 49, 3 5 0   

Payments on account 2 2 , 570 23 5 ,115 2 57, 6 8 5 2 57, 6 8 5   

Trade payables 4 ,110 , 521 1 , 4 5 5 ,113 5 , 5 6 5 , 6 3 4 5 , 5 6 5 , 6 3 4   

Payables in the form of credit instruments           

Amounts due to subsidiaries           

Amounts due to associated companies           

Amounts due to parent companies           

Amounts due to companies subject to 
the control of parent companies

          

Amounts due to Inland Revenue 94 5 , 7 3 7 8 8 , 627 1 , 0 3 4 , 3 6 4 1 , 0 3 4 , 3 6 4   

Amounts due to social security and 
welfare institutions

271 , 76 0 114 ,9 61 3 8 6 , 721 3 8 6 , 721   

Other payables 5 69, 0 2 5 23 6 , 8 61 8 0 5 , 8 8 6 8 0 5 , 8 8 6   

Total payables 17,264,723 2,720,702 19,985,425 15,984,426 4,000,999

Below is a breakdown of the balance of total amounts due to banks as at 31 December 
2024, standing at Euro 11,885,785.

AMOUNT

current accounts overdrafts 3 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0

loans 8 , 8 8 5 , 78 5

other amounts due   

Total 11,885,785

With regard to outstanding loans with banks, the following table provides an over-
view of the main aspects. For a more detailed analysis of the debt ratio with credit 
institutions, reference should be made to information provided in the Consolidated 
Report on Operations.

Credit institution
ORIGINAL
AMOUNT

MATURITY
RESIDUAL AMOUNT 

AS AT 31/12/2024
PORTION WITHIN

12 MONTHS
PORTION AFTER

12 MONTHS

Unicredit S.p.A. 3 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 31/ 0 3 /2 0 26 1 , 2 9 5 ,9 7 3 1 , 0 31 , 3 2 0 26 4 , 6 5 3

Simest S.p.A. 4 0 0 , 0 0 0 31/12 /2 0 2 5 8 0 , 0 0 0 8 0 , 0 0 0   

Banco di Desio e della Brianza S.p.A. 2 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 10 /12 /2 0 2 5 6 8 3 , 3 4 9 6 8 3 , 3 4 9   

Credem S.p.A. 2 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 10 / 0 5 /2 0 2 5 419, 411 419, 411   

Credem S.p.A. 3 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 12 /10 /2 0 26 2 , 4 27, 7 01 1 ,191 , 3 5 5 1 , 2 3 6 , 3 4 6

Intesa San Paolo S.p.A. 4 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 2 8 / 0 5 /2 0 2 5 479, 3 5 0 479, 3 5 0   

Intesa San Paolo S.p.A. 4 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 24 / 0 4 /2 0 2 8 3 , 5 0 0 , 0 0 0 1 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 2 , 5 0 0 , 0 0 0

Total   8,885,784 4,884,786 4,000,999

It should be noted that these loans are not secured by collateral on Group assets and 
that the loan of Euro 400,000 granted by Simest S.p.A. includes a financial covenant 
that has been met.

The amount of circulating gold required to meet production cycle needs is partly 
provided by credit institutions on the basis of “loan for use” contracts. The overall 
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commitment as at 31 December 2024 in respect of the availability of gold owned by 
credit institutions, on the basis of the aforementioned contracts, was equal to Euro 
23,912,043.

With regard to the analysis of amounts due to Credit Institutions, as shown in the 
table above, reference should be made to the information provided in the Report on 
Operations.

The item “Payments on account” includes advance payments received from custom-
ers in respect of goods and services not yet supplied.

Trade payables, all having a maturity of less than 12 months, are recognised at face 
value net of trade discounts, while cash discounts are recognised at the time of 
payment. 

The face value of these payables was adjusted for returns or allowances (billing ad-
justments) to the extent of the amount agreed upon with the counterparty.

The item “Amounts due to Inland Revenue” mainly refers to the amounts due by for-
eign companies to the Italian Inland Revenue.

It should also be noted that there are no payables with a maturity of more than five 
years.

The breakdown of payables by geographical area is not significant.

ACC RU E D  E X P E N S E S  A N D  D E F E R R E D  I N CO M E

 
OPENING
BALANCE

CHANGE IN
THE PERIOD

CLOSING
BALANCE

Accrued expenses 6 8 , 0 62 69,9 3 0 137,9 9 2

Deferred income 13 5 , 2 5 4 ( 3 8 ,1 0 3 ) 97,151

Total accrued expenses and deferred income 203,316 31,827 235,143

Below is a breakdown of this item:

Description AMOUNT

Loan for use fees 3 8 , 6 9 2

Tax credit under Italian Law 160/19 97,151

Bank fees and interest 6 4 , 2 6 8

Costs related to FOPE Branch 1 , 3 0 2

Others 3 3 , 7 3 0

Total 235,143

It should also be noted that accrued expenses and deferred income over five years 
stood at Euro 10,790.
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A )  P RO D U C T I O N  VA LU E

Below is a breakdown of this item.

Description 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 CHANGES

Revenues from sales and services 7 3 , 4 3 3 , 5 0 4 6 6 , 76 8 ,113 6 , 6 6 5 , 3 91

Change in product inventories 7, 4 21 , 6 9 3 70 6 , 812 6 , 714 , 8 81

Other income and revenues 8 8 8 , 26 4 870 ,113 18 ,151

Total 81,743,461 68,345,038 13,398,423

Below is the percentage breakdown of revenues by geographical area.

Revenues by area

Customers in Italy 14 . 21%

EU customers 2 9. 4 9 %

Non-EU customers 5 6 . 3 0 %

Revenues from the sale of products are recognised when the risks and benefits are 
transferred, usually occurring at the time of delivery or shipment of the goods. 

Revenues of a financial nature and revenues from the provision of services are rec-
ognised on an accrual basis. 

Revenues and income, costs and charges related to foreign currency transactions 
are calculated based on the exchange rate prevailing on the date on which the trans-
action took place.

The breakdown of revenues by category is not significant.
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B )  CO S T S  O F  P RO D U C T I O N

Below is a breakdown of this item.

Description 31/12/2024 31/12/2023 CHANGES

Raw materials, auxiliary materials and goods 31 , 8 5 4 , 2 9 3 2 8 ,9 7 3 , 62 9 2 , 8 8 0 , 6 6 4

Change in inventories of raw materials 7, 4 0 4 , 0 4 6 (1 , 0 8 4 ,15 9 ) 8 , 4 8 8 , 2 0 5

Services 19, 6 51 , 2 32 16 , 672 , 6 0 5 2 ,9 78 , 627

Use of third-party assets 813 ,9 24 8 6 6 ,9 70 ( 5 3 , 0 4 6 )

Salaries and wages 5 ,13 6 ,12 8 4 , 3 2 0 , 6 6 0 815 , 4 6 8

Social security contributions 1 , 3 4 9, 8 8 8 1 , 0 9 9, 6 0 5 2 5 0 , 2 8 3

Employee severance pay 2 5 4 ,178 2 2 0 , 4 5 6 3 3 , 72 2

Pensions and similar obligations       

Other labour costs 12 2 , 5 3 6 79, 3 78 4 3 ,15 8

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 1 , 3 3 0 , 3 78 1 ,13 8 , 6 4 0 191 , 7 3 8

Depreciation of tangible fixed assets 1 , 3 5 6 , 014 1 ,152 , 741 2 0 3 , 27 3

Other write -downs of fixed assets       

Write-downs of receivables included in current assets 10 3 , 271 8 9, 2 8 5 13 ,9 8 6

Provisions for risks 3 0 , 0 0 0   3 0 , 0 0 0

Other provisions       

Sundry operating charges 2 23 , 26 8 15 5 , 6 0 0 67, 6 6 8

Total 69,629,156 53,685,410 15,943,746

“Services” include Euro 420,182 in fees for loans for use.

“Use of third-party assets” include the rent for single-brand stores and showrooms.

“Labour costs” include the entire expenditure related to employees, including mer-
it-based pay raises, promotions, cost of living increases, cost of holiday not taken, 
and provisions required by law and under collective labour agreements. 

With regard to amortisation/depreciation, it should be noted that it was calculated 
based on the useful life of the asset and its use in the production phase.



79Notes to the Consolidated F inancial Statement as of 31 December 2024

F I N A N C I A L  I N CO M E  A N D  C H A RG E S

The tables below show the nature and amount of financial income and charges rec-
ognised during the year.

FINANCIAL INCOME

From equity investments in subsidiaries 1 ,947

From equity investments in other companies 4 , 6 0 2

Income other than the above 2 5 4 , 3 71

Total 260,920

Income from equity investments in subsidiaries refers to the sale of the equity invest-
ment held in FOPE Services Dmcc, which was completed during the year.

Income other than the above relates to interest income.

  INTEREST EXPENSE AND OTHER FINANCIAL CHARGES

From bonds   

From amounts due to banks 707, 7 94

From others 19, 2 9 0

Total 727,084

E XC H A N G E  R AT E  GA I N S /( LO S S E S )

EXCHANGE
RATE GAINS

EXCHANGE
RATE LOSSES

NET
BALANCE

Realised component 6 5 4 , 2 26 1 , 2 0 8 , 4 8 3 ( 5 5 4 , 2 57 )

Unrealised component 4 32 , 712 2 5 , 7 3 4 4 0 6 ,9 78

Total 1,086,938 1,234,217 (147,279)
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I N CO M E  TA X E S  F O R  T H E  P E R I O D

Taxes
BALANCE AS

AT 31/12/2024
BALANCE AS

AT 31/12/2023
CHANGES

Current taxes: 3 , 3 7 9, 4 2 9 3 , 74 4 , 4 5 8 ( 3 6 5 , 0 2 9 )

IRES (corporate income tax) 2 , 621 , 3 8 2 2 , 8 3 6 , 3 32 ( 214 ,9 5 0 )

IRAP (regional income tax) 4 97, 7 5 5 5 5 0 , 3 4 0 ( 52 , 5 8 5 )

Lease taxes       

FOPE Usa Inc. current taxes 15 8 , 8 5 8 23 3 , 4 6 4 ( 74 , 6 0 6 )

FOPE Jewellery Ltd. current taxes 32 , 6 3 7 5 6 ,9 16 ( 24 , 27 9 )

FOPE Deutschland Gmbh current taxes 4 3 , 6 8 5 67, 4 0 6 ( 2 3 , 721)

FOPE Japan current taxes 2 5 ,112     

Taxes pertaining to previous years (114 , 4 5 9 ) ( 74 , 7 97 ) ( 3 9, 6 62 )

Deferred tax (assets) liabilities (147, 8 9 8 ) 3 5 , 47 9 (18 3 , 3 7 7 )

IRES (corporate income tax) 18 , 511 2 5 , 6 94 ( 7,18 3 )

IRAP (regional income tax) ( 3 ,9 78 ) ( 2 , 8 0 8 ) (1 ,170 )

Other deferred tax (assets) liabilities 2 8 , 0 61 3 8 ,9 9 3 (10 ,9 32 )

Deferred tax (assets) liabilities from consolidation adjustments (19 0 , 4 9 2 ) ( 2 6 , 4 0 0 ) (16 4 , 0 9 2 )

Total 3,117,072 3,705,140 (588,068)

Taxes are set aside on an accrual basis; they therefore include: 

	• Provisions for taxes paid or to be paid during the year, calculated accor-
ding to current rates and legislation;

	• The amount of deferred tax assets or liabilities calculated based on the 
tax rates in force when the temporary differences are charged back.

Deferred tax asset and liability rates for the period are directly recognised in the in-
come statement, with the exception of those relating to items directly recognised in 
shareholders’ equity, in which case, the related deferred taxes are also recorded at 
the same time, without being recognised in the income statement.
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D E F E R R E D  TA X  A S S E T S / L I A B I L I T I E S

To provide a more detailed view of reconciliation between theoretical tax burden and 
effective tax burden recognised in the financial statements, below is reconciliation 
of the consolidated theoretical tax rate with the effective tax rate for the period com-
pared with that for the period ended 31 December 2023.

  31/12/2024   31/12/2023   

  TAXABLE AMOUNT TAX TAXABLE AMOUNT TAXES

Pre -tax profit/(loss) for the period (Parent Company) 11 , 0 8 0 , 816   12 , 5 31 , 2 9 2   

IRES - Theoretical tax burden (24% rate)   ( 2 , 6 5 9, 3 9 6 )   ( 3 , 0 07, 510 )

IRAP - Theoretical tax burden (3,9% rate on EBIT)   (4 47, 0 61)   ( 521 ,9 9 8 )

Total taxes   ( 3 ,1 0 6 , 4 57 )   ( 3 , 52 9, 5 0 8 )

Theoretical tax rate   - 2 8 . 0 3 %   - 2 8 .17 %

IRES differences         

Permanent increases 3 4 3 , 5 4 6 ( 8 2 , 4 51) 18 0 , 3 2 9 (4 3 , 27 9 )

Increases feeding into deferred tax assets 197, 274 (47, 3 4 6 ) 3 7 5 , 4 0 8 ( 9 0 , 0 9 8 )

Increases adjusting deferred tax liabilities 2 8 ,9 9 2 (6 ,9 5 8 ) 3 0 , 5 0 3 ( 7, 3 21 )

Total increases 5 69, 812 (13 6 , 7 5 5 ) 5 8 6 , 24 0 (14 0 , 6 9 8 )

Permanent decreases (4 24 , 8 0 8 ) 101 ,9 5 4 ( 718 , 5 0 9 ) 172 , 4 42

Decreases adjusting deferred tax assets ( 3 0 3 , 3 9 6 ) 72 , 815 ( 5 51 ,9 8 4 ) 132 , 476

Decreases feeding into deferred tax liabilities     ( 2 8 ,9 9 2 ) 6 ,9 5 8

Decreases ( 72 8 , 2 0 4 ) 174 , 769 (1 , 2 9 9, 4 8 5 ) 311 , 876

IRAP differences         

Labour costs 6 6 4 ,14 9 ( 2 5 ,9 0 2 ) 2 9 5 , 3 7 3 (11 , 52 0 )

Provisions and write -down of receivables         

Other permanent increases 614 , 415 ( 2 3 ,9 62 ) 4 3 8 , 2 0 4 (17, 0 9 0 )

Total increases feeding into deferred tax assets 72 , 012 ( 2 , 8 0 8 ) 72 , 012 ( 2 , 8 0 9 )

Total increases 1 , 3 5 0 , 576 ( 52 , 672 ) 8 0 5 , 5 8 9 ( 31 , 418 )

Permanent decreases ( 5 0 , 74 6 ) 1 ,9 7 9 ( 78 , 8 6 0 ) 3 , 0 76

Decreases adjusting deferred tax assets         

Total decreases ( 5 0 , 74 6 ) 1 ,9 7 9 ( 78 , 8 6 0 ) 3 , 0 76

Total current IRES taxes   ( 2 , 621 , 3 8 2 )   ( 2 , 8 3 6 , 3 31)

Total current IRAP taxes   (4 97, 7 5 4 )   ( 5 5 0 , 3 4 0 )

Taxes from previous financial years   114 , 4 5 9   74 , 7 97

Taxes paid by foreign subsidiaries   ( 2 6 0 , 2 9 2 )   ( 3 57, 78 6 )

Tax effect of lease accounting         

Deferred tax (assets) liabilities of Parent Company   (14 , 5 3 3 )   ( 2 2 , 8 8 6 )

Deferred tax (assets) liabilities of foreign subsidiaries   ( 2 8 , 0 62 )   ( 3 9, 6 9 2 )

Deferred tax (assets) liabilities from consolidation adjustments   19 0 , 4 9 2   2 6 , 4 0 0

Total taxes for the period   ( 3 ,117, 0 72 )   ( 3 , 7 0 5 , 8 3 8 )

Pre - tax profit/(loss) for the period (consolidated)   11 , 5 0 0 , 8 61   13 , 78 0 , 2 5 8

Effective tax rate   2 7.1 0 %   2 6 . 8 9 %

Regarding the calculation and measurement methods of deferred tax assets/liabili-
ties, reference should be made to the information provided in the introduction sec-
tion of these Notes to the Financial Statements.
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CO M M E N T S  O N  T H E  I N D I R E C T  S TAT E M E N T  O F  C A S H  F LOW S

The financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2024 were prepared in 
accordance with the indirect method as under OIC 10, adjusting the profit for the pe-
riod shown in the Income Statement.

During 2024, the cash flows generated by the Group totalled Euro 3,890,299. Cash 
and cash equivalents increased from Euro 11,255,171 as at the end of the previous year 
to Euro 15,145,470 as at 31 December 2024.

A)	 Cash flows from operating activities

The Group closed 2024 with a profit for the period of Euro 8,383,788 (Euro 10,075,118 
as at 31 December 2023). Taxes for the period totalled Euro 3,117,072 (reference should 
be made to the specific section in the Notes to the Financial Statements).

Cash flows from operating activities, which reflect cash inflows/outflows from 
Group’s operations (consisting of the normal operating process), came in at Euro 
11,136,417, up compared to the previous year, when they amounted to Euro 5,837,691.

The main adjustments for non-monetary items that did not have a balancing entry in 
net working capital include:

	• Allocations to provisions in the amount of Euro 445,014, referring to pro-
visions for agents’ termination indemnity and other provisions.

	• Amortisation, depreciation and write-downs, totalling Euro 2,686,392.

Changes in net working capital were negative in the amount of Euro (852,098), show-
ing in particular an increase in trade receivables and inventories.

Other adjustments were negative and amounted to Euro 3,106,622, mainly related to 
income taxes paid.

B)	 Cash flows from investing activities 

Cash flows from investing activities, which reflect cash inflows/outflows from in-
vestments (i.e., new purchases or sales) were negative and stood at Euro 3,290,464.

The negative result was mainly due to investments made by the Group in tangible 
fixed assets.

C)	 Cash flows from financing activities

Cash flows from financing activities, which reflect cash inflows/outflows from activ-
ities pertaining to financing (i.e., taking out new loans or repaying debts and loans) 
were negative and stood at Euro 3,955,654.

With reference to third-party funds, it should be noted that a new loan of Euro 
6,000,000 was taken out, while Euro 5,398,576 was repaid in principal.

With regard to cash flows from equity, it should be noted that dividends in the amount 
of Euro 4,589,667 were distributed during the year, while the remaining profit was al-
located to equity reserves.
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I N F O R M AT I O N  R E GA R D I N G  T H E  FA I R  VA LU E  O F  D E R I VAT I V E  F I N A N C I A L  I N S T RU M E N T S

In compliance with the provisions of Article 2427-bis of the Italian Civil Code, the fol-
lowing information is provided.

Type of contract PURPOSE UNDERLYING RISK
NOTIONAL REFERENCE 

AMOUNT AS AT 31/12/2024
FAIR VALUE AS AT 

31/12/2024

Commodity swap HEDGING DERIVAT IVE PRECIOUS METALS 3 4 , 8 3 5 , 3 7 5 3 ,14 9, 5 81

Currency options HEDGING DERIVAT IVE USD/EUR EXCHANGE RATE 4 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 (18 6 , 3 3 4 )

Currency options HEDGING DERIVAT IVE AUD/EUR EXCHANGE RATE 2 5 0 , 0 0 0 2 , 5 5 6

Currency options HEDGING DERIVAT IVE GBP/EUR EXCHANGE RATE 2 , 0 0 0 , 0 0 0 (19 8 ,9 3 5 )

Currency options HEDGING DERIVAT IVE JPY/EUR EXCHANGE RATE     

Interest Rate Swaps HEDGING DERIVAT IVE INTEREST RATES 9, 2 9 5 ,9 7 3 (6 9, 8 2 8 )

The Parent Company performs forward hedging on currency risks arising from its 
trade activities, the purpose being to protect the industrial operating profit from un-
favourable fluctuations in exchange rates and prices of key raw materials.

The Company therefore uses derivatives within the scope of its “risk management” 
activities, while derivatives or similar instruments are not used and held for mere 
trading purposes.

CO M M O D I T Y  P R I C E  R I S K

The objective of this type of hedge is to minimise changes in cash flows generated 
by the purchase of raw materials used in the production process. In order to stabi-
lise the purchase price, the Parent Company fixes the price at the metal withdrawal 
date through financial hedging transactions. These transactions, which have a max-
imum duration of 24 months, are carried out on a rotation basis for a portion of the 
requirements calculated based on the Company’s budget.

E XC H A N G E  R AT E  R I S K

As the Parent Company operates internationally, it is exposed to exchange rate risk 
associated with different currencies, including, primarily, the US dollar and the 
British pound. The exchange rate risk arises from transactions of a commercial 
nature related to normal operations, and arises from the fluctuation of exchange 
rates between the time when the commercial relationship originates and the time 
of collection. 

I N T E R E S T  R AT E  R I S K 

To manage interest rate risk associated with medium/long-term loans, the Parent 
Company had some Interest Rate Swap transactions in place as at 31 December 2024, 
which allow the loan to switch from a floating rate to a fixed rate. This instrument 
has notional values and maturities aligned with those of the underlying hedged loan.
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OTH ER  IN F ORM AT ION

I N F O R M AT I O N  R E L AT I N G  TO  F E E S  PAYA B L E  TO  T H E  I N D E P E N D E N T  AU D I TO R S

  AMOUNT

Statutory audit of FOPE S.p.A. annual accounts 5 0 ,1 0 9

Statutory audit of FOPE Jewellery Ltd annual accounts 2 5 , 3 9 5

Statutory audit of FOPE Usa Inc annual accounts 24 , 0 21

Tax advisory services   

Other audit services 7, 87 5  

Other non-audit services 3 0 , 767

Total fees due to independent auditors 138,167

The statutory audit of the consolidated accounts was entrusted to the auditing firm 
BDO ITALIA S.p.A.

During 2024, the auditing firm also performed consulting activities in connection 
with the preparation of the sustainability report and the certification of R&D activ-
ities. It also provided services related to the acquisition and management of whis-
tleblowing reports.

I N F O R M AT I O N  R E L AT I N G  TO  F E E S  PAYA B L E  TO  D I R E C TO R S  A N D  S TAT U TO RY  AU D I TO R S

Pursuant to law provisions, information is provided with regard to the total fees pay-
able to Directors and members of the Board of Statutory Auditors of the parent com-
pany, including those for the discharge of such functions also in other companies in-
cluded in the scope of consolidation.

  DIRECTORS STATUTORY AUDITORS

Fees 1 , 0 97, 0 01 3 0 , 7 0 6

It should be noted that no advance payments were made, no amounts were due and 
no guarantees were provided to Directors and Statutory Auditors.

I N F O R M AT I O N  R E GA R D I N G  F I N A N C I A L  F I X E D  A S S E T S  E N T E R E D  AT  A  VA LU E  H I G H E R  T H A N  T H E I R  FA I R 

VA LU E

No financial fixed assets were recognised in the financial statements at a value high-
er than their fair value.
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I N F O R M AT I O N  R E GA R D I N G  T R A N S AC T I O N S  W I T H  R E L AT E D  PA R T I E S

No significant transactions took place between Group companies and related parties.

R E V E N U E  O R  CO S T  I T E M S  O F  E XC E P T I O N A L  S I Z E  O R  I M PAC T

Pursuant to Article 2427, Section 13(1) of the Italian Civil Code, it should be noted that 
the income statement does not reflect any revenues or costs that, due to their size or 
impact on the result for the reporting period, are not repeatable over time.

O F F - B A L A N C E - S H E E T  A R R A N G E M E N T S ,  G UA R A N T E E S  A N D  CO N T I N G E N T  L I A B I L I T I E S  N OT  R E S U LT I N G 

F RO M T H E  B A L A N C E  S H E E T

Group companies do not have any arrangements in place that are not reflected in 
the Balance Sheet. 

The Parent Company’s commitments to third parties relate to the value of gold on 
loan for use amounting to Euro 23,912,043.
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I N F O R M AT I O N  O N  S I G N I F I C A N T  E V E N T S  O CC U R R I N G  A F T E R  T H E  E N D  O F  T H E  R E P O R T I N G  P E R I O D

A P P O I N T M E N T  O F  T H E  G E N E R A L  M A N AG E R

In March 2025, Piero Persi was appointed General Manager of the Company.

The business volumes now achieved by the Group and, above all, the growth plans 
developed in light of the strategies that FOPE is pursuing, make the implementation 
of growth projects and the organisation of company processes more complex and 
detailed, requiring us to adapt the organisational structure by appointing a General 
Manager. The new figure, who will oversee the various corporate functions, is re-
sponsible for supporting the CEO and the Board of Directors in implementing pro-
jects aimed at market growth and organisational improvement.

Mr. Piero Persi has impressive professional experience in similar top roles for impor-
tant companies operating in the luxury segment, where he contributed significant-
ly to their growth and success.

These consolidated financial statements, consisting of the balance sheet, the in-
come statement and the notes to the financial statements, provide a true and fair 
view of the financial situation and performance, and tally with the Parent Company’s 
accounting records and the information provided by the companies included in the 
scope of consolidation.

Diego Nardin
FOPE S.p.A. CEO
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Independent auditor’s Report  
pursuant to article 14 of Legislative Decree no. 39 of 27 January 2010 
 
 
To the Shareholders of  
Fope S.p.A. 
 
 
Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Fope (the “Group”), which comprise the balance 
sheet as at December 31, 2024, the income statement and the cash flow statement for the year then ended 
and the explanatory notes. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 
Fope as at December 31, 2024 and of its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with the Italian regulations and accounting principles governing financial statements preparation. 

 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the consolidated financial statements section of our report. We are independent of Fope S.p.A. (the 
“Parent”) in accordance with the ethical and independence requirements applicable in Italy to the audit of 
financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Responsibilities of the directors and board of statutory auditors for the consolidated financial statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with the Italian regulations and accounting principles governing financial statements 
preparation and, within the terms established by the Italian law, for such internal control as they determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

The directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and for the 
appropriate use of the going concern basis in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements and for 
the adequacy of the related disclosures. The use of this basis of accounting is appropriate unless the directors 
believe that the conditions for liquidating the Parent Fope S.p.A. or ceasing operations exist, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.  

The board of statutory auditors is responsible for overseeing, within the terms established by Italian law, the 
Group’s financial reporting process. 
 
 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISA Italia will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.  
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Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA Italia), we exercised 
professional judgment and maintained professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also have: 

 identified and assessed the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, designed and performed audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtained audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control; 

 obtained an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control; 

 evaluated the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors;  

 concluded on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease 
to continue as a going concern; 

 evaluated the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation; 

 obtained sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain 
solely responsible for our audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 

We have communicated with those charged with governance, as properly identified in accordance with ISA 
Italia, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in internal control we identified during our audit. 

 
Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

Opinion and statement pursuant to Article 14, paragraph 2, letters e), e-bis) and e-ter), of Legislative 
Decree no. 39/10 

The directors of Fope S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations of Fope as at 
December 31, 2024, including its consistency with the consolidated financial statements and its compliance 
with the applicable law. 

We have performed the procedures required under Auditing Standard (SA Italia) n. 720B in order to: 

• express an opinion on the consistency of the report on operations with the consolidated financial 
statements; 

• express an opinion on the compliance of the report on operations with the applicable law; 

• issue a statement of any material misstatements in the report on operations. 
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In our opinion, the report on operations is consistent with the consolidated financial statements of Fope as 
at December 31, 2024. 

Moreover, in our opinion, the report on operations has been prepared in compliance with the applicable law.  

With reference to the statement pursuant to Article 14, paragraph 2, letter e-ter), of Legislative Decree no. 
39/10, based on our knowledge and understanding of the entity and its environment obtained through our 
audit, we have nothing to report. 

 
Verona, April 9, 2025 

BDO Italia S.p.A. 
Signed by  

Marco Giuseppe Troiani 
Partner 

 








